
Service Lead -  Governance: Karen Shepherd: (01628) 796529

TO: EVERY MEMBER OF THE COUNCIL FOR THE ROYAL BOROUGH OF 
WINDSOR & MAIDENHEAD

YOU ARE HEREBY SUMMONED TO ATTEND the Extraordinary Meeting of the 
Council of the Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead to be held in the 
Desborough Suite - Town Hall on Monday, 28 January 2019 at 7.30 pm for the 
purpose of transacting the business specified in the Agenda set out hereunder.

Dated this Friday, 18 January 2019

Acting Managing Director
Rev Drake will say 
prayers for the 
meeting.

A G E N D A

PART I

1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive any apologies for absence
 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive any declarations of interest
 (Pages 5 - 6)

3.  PETITION FOR DEBATE - ALMA ROAD

An e-petition containing 1140 signatories was submitted to the Council on 22 
August 2018. In accordance with the provisions of the Council’s Constitution, it 
was requested by the lead petitioner that the petition be reported to, and debated 
at, a full Council meeting. 

The petition reads as follows:

‘We the undersigned petition The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead to 
defend the unanimous decision of the Windsor Urban Development Management 
Panel with whatever resource (legal and otherwise) necessary to fully and 
adequately protect our town from the proposed gross overdevelopment at the 
forthcoming appeal of planning application 18/00095/FULL.’

http://petitions.rbwm.gov.uk/AlmaRoadAppeal/

Public Document Pack

http://petitions.rbwm.gov.uk/AlmaRoadAppeal/


The Constitution provides for a maximum time of 30 minutes to debate such 
petitions; this can be overruled at the Mayor’s discretion. 

In accordance with the Constitution, the order of speaking shall be as follows:

a) The Mayor may invite the relevant officer to set out 
the background to the petition issue.

b) The Lead Petitioner to address the meeting on the 
petition (5 minutes maximum)

c) The Mayor to invite any relevant Ward Councillors 
present to address the meeting. (Maximum time of 3 
minutes each for this purpose) 

d) The Mayor to invite the relevant officer to provide any 
further comment.

e) The Mayor will invite all Members to debate the 
matter (Rules of Debate as per the Constitution 
apply)  

 

4.  PETITION FOR DEBATE - BRAYWICK CROSSING

An e-petition containing 1039 signatories was submitted to the Council on 16 
October 2018. In accordance with the provisions of the Council’s Constitution, it 
was requested by the lead petitioner that the petition be reported to, and debated 
at, a full Council meeting. 

The petition reads as follows:

‘We the undersigned petition The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead to 
install a pedestrian crossing on Braywick Road, leading to Braywick Park.’

http://petitions.rbwm.gov.uk/BraywickCrossing/

The Constitution provides for a maximum time of 30 minutes to debate such 
petitions; this can be overruled at the Mayor’s discretion. 

In accordance with the Constitution, the order of speaking shall be as follows:

a) The Mayor may invite the relevant officer to set out 
the background to the petition issue.

b) The Lead Petitioner to address the meeting on the 
petition (5 minutes maximum)

http://petitions.rbwm.gov.uk/BraywickCrossing/


c) The Mayor to invite any relevant Ward Councillors 
present to address the meeting. (Maximum time of 3 
minutes each for this purpose) 

d) The Mayor to invite the relevant officer to provide any 
further comment.

e) The Mayor will invite all Members to debate the 
matter (Rules of Debate as per the Constitution 
apply)  

 (Pages 7 - 12)

5.  POLLING DISTRICT AND POLLING PLACES REVIEW 2018

To consider the above report
 (Pages 13 - 40)

6.  APPOINTMENT OF MANAGING DIRECTOR AND HEAD OF PAID SERVICE

To consider the above report
 (Pages 41 - 44)

7.  REVIEW AND REPUBLISHING OF RBWM'S GAMBLING ACT 2005 
STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES

To consider the above report
 (Pages 45 - 84)



COUNCIL MOTIONS – PROCEDURE

 Motion proposed (mover of Motion to speak on Motion) 

 Motion seconded (Seconder has right to reserve their speech until later in the 
debate)

 Begin debate

Should An Amendment Be Proposed: (only one amendment may be moved and 
discussed at any one time)

NB – Any proposed amendment to a Motion to be passed to the Mayor for 
consideration before it is proposed and seconded.

 Amendment to Motion proposed

 Amendment must be seconded BEFORE any debate can take place on it 

(At this point, the mover and seconder of original Motion can indicate their 
acceptance of the amendment if they are happy with it) 

 Amendment debated (if required)

 Vote taken on Amendment 

 If Agreed, the amended Motion becomes the substantive Motion and is 
then debated (any further amendments follow same procedure as above).

 If Amendment not agreed, original Motion is debated (any other 
amendments follow same procedure as above).  

 The mover of the Motion has a right to reply at the end of the debate on the Motion, 
immediately before it is put to the vote.

 At conclusion of debate on Motion, the Mayor shall call for a vote. Unless the vote is 
unanimous, a named vote will be undertaken, the results of which will be 
announced in the meeting, and recorded in the Minutes of the meeting.      

(All speeches maximum of 5 minutes, except for the Budget Meeting where the Member proposing the 
adoption of the budget and the Opposition Spokesperson shall each be allowed to speak for 10 minutes to 
respectively propose the budget and respond to it. The Member proposing the budget may speak for a 
further 5 minutes when exercising his/her right of reply.)



 
MEMBERS’ GUIDE TO DECLARING INTERESTS IN MEETINGS  

 
Disclosure at Meetings 
 
If a Member has not disclosed an interest in their Register of Interests, they must make the declaration of 
interest at the beginning of the meeting, or as soon as they are aware that they have a DPI or Prejudicial 
Interest. If a Member has already disclosed the interest in their Register of Interests they are still required to 
disclose this in the meeting if it relates to the matter being discussed.   
 
A member with a DPI or Prejudicial Interest may make representations at the start of the item but must not 
take part in the discussion or vote at a meeting. The speaking time allocated for Members to make 
representations is at the discretion of the Chairman of the meeting.  In order to avoid any accusations of taking 
part in the discussion or vote, after speaking, Members should move away from the panel table to a public area 
or, if they wish, leave the room.  If the interest declared has not been entered on to a Members’ Register of 
Interests, they must notify the Monitoring Officer in writing within the next 28 days following the meeting.  

 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs) (relating to the Member or their partner) include: 
 

 Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

 Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit made in respect of any expenses occurred in 
carrying out member duties or election expenses. 

 Any contract under which goods and services are to be provided/works to be executed which has not been 
fully discharged. 

 Any beneficial interest in land within the area of the relevant authority. 

 Any licence to occupy land in the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 

 Any tenancy where the landlord is the relevant authority, and the tenant is a body in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest. 

 Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where:  
a) that body has a piece of business or land in the area of the relevant authority, and  
b) either (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that body or (ii) the total nominal value of the shares of any one class belonging to the 
relevant person exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 

 
Any Member who is unsure if their interest falls within any of the above legal definitions should seek advice 
from the Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting. 
 
A Member with a DPI should state in the meeting: ‘I declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in item x 
because xxx. As soon as we come to that item, I will leave the room/ move to the public area for the 
entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Or, if making representations on the item: ‘I declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in item x because xxx. 
As soon as we come to that item, I will make representations, then I will leave the room/ move to the 
public area for the entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Prejudicial Interests 
 
Any interest which a reasonable, fair minded and informed member of the public would reasonably believe is so 
significant that it harms or impairs the Member’s ability to judge the public interest in the item, i.e. a Member’s 
decision making is influenced by their interest so that they are not able to impartially consider relevant issues.   
 
A Member with a Prejudicial interest should state in the meeting: ‘I declare a Prejudicial Interest in item x 
because xxx. As soon as we come to that item, I will leave the room/ move to the public area for the 
entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Or, if making representations in the item: ‘I declare a Prejudicial Interest in item x because xxx. As soon as 
we come to that item, I will make representations, then I will leave the room/ move to the public area for 
the entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Personal interests 
 
Any other connection or association which a member of the public may reasonably think may influence a 
Member when making a decision on council matters.  
 

Members with a Personal Interest should state at the meeting: ‘I wish to declare a Personal Interest in item x 
because xxx’. As this is a Personal Interest only, I will take part in the discussion and vote on the 
matter. 5

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report Title: Petition for Debate – Braywick Road 
Pedestrian Crossing 

 

Contains Confidential or 
Exempt Information? 

No - Part I 

Member reporting:  Councillor Bicknell 
Deputy Leader; Lead Member for 
Highways & Transport and Windsor 

Meeting and Date:  Extraordinary Council  - 28 January 2019 

Responsible Officer(s):  Hilary Hall, Director Strategy & 
Commissioning 

Wards affected:   Oldfield 
 

                           

REPORT SUMMARY 

1. An online petition seeking the installation of a pedestrian crossing on Braywick 
Road to Braywick Park attracted 1,039 signatures. 

2. The petition closed on 11 October 2018 and the Lead Petitioner requested that 
the subject be referred to Council for debate. 

3. The purpose of this report is to respond to the petition and recommends that due 
to the changing environment in the vicinity of Braywick Park, detailed proposals 
for a pedestrian crossing be developed and funding be allocated as part of the 
2020/21 capital programme for implementation.  

 

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATIONS 

RECOMMENDATION: That Council notes the report and: 

i. Acknowledges the petition and fully supports the installation of a pedestrian 
crossing on Braywick Road  

 
ii. Approves funding of £150,000 in the 2020/21 capital programme to deliver the 

pedestrian crossing 
 

2. REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
2.1 An online petition seeking to install a pedestrian crossing on Braywick Road secured 1,039 

signatures and was created by the Lead Petitioner, Rachel Clapp, RARA Communications 
Officer. 
 

2.2 The full wording of the petition is as follows:  
‘…We are calling on RBWM Council to recognise the dire need for a pedestrian crossing 
across Braywick Road, leading to the pedestrian entrance to Braywick Park.  
Pleas for the inherent danger in crossing Braywick Road to be acknowledged and for a 
crossing to be constructed have been repeatedly rejected or deferred over the past 18 
years. 
  
We therefore encourage everyone to sign this petition and in doing so, compel RBWM 
Council to take action and allocate funds immediately to facilitate the installation of this 
crossing…’  

7

Agenda Item 4



 

 
2.3 In accordance with the Royal Borough’s Constitution the Lead Petitioner was asked how 

they would like the petition to be considered and it was requested that the petition be 
referred to Council for debate. 
 

2.4 The Braywick Road (A308) is the main route into Maidenhead from the M4, Windsor and 
the south. The road comprises of a 1.45km dual carriageway between the Braywick 
roundabout, which provides a link to the M4 and the Stafferton Way roundabout, just south 
of Maidenhead railway station. The road is predominantly subject to a 40mph speed limit. 
There have been 12 reported injury road crashes on this section of road over the past five 
years, resulting in 1 fatal; 2 serious and 9 slight casualties. One of these crashes involved a 
pedestrian in the carriageway. 
 

2.5 Requests have previously been received to introduce a pedestrian crossing at this location 
which have been fully considered but not progressed due to the relatively low level of 
demand and the presence of informal, uncontrolled crossing points which were subject to 
minor improvements. It was, however, acknowledged that should circumstances change 
that this position would be reviewed. 
 

2.6 Construction of the new multi-million pound Braywick Leisure Centre has now commenced 
which will deliver state-of-the-art leisure facilities opening in mid-2020. 
 

2.7 In addition, Braywick Park will become the home for Braywick Court and Forest Bridge 
School (subject to planning consent) while continuing to support the existing sporting 
facilities; pub and restaurant; plant nursery and cemetery. 
 

2.8 In parallel the Royal Borough is working with development partner ‘CALA Homes’ to deliver 

the vision for Maidenhead Golf Course site creating a vibrant and sustainable legacy that 

meets with the council’s original objectives. The site will deliver approximately 2,000 

homes, including 30% affordable, as well as a new primary and secondary school, public 

open space, community hub and supporting infrastructure. 

 

2.9 The environment in this vicinity will change significantly in the near future creating additional 

demand and it is, therefore, recommended that proposals for a pedestrian crossing be 

developed in 2019/20 with installation programmed for 2020/21 to align with the opening of 

the new leisure centre.  

 

2.10 A bridge option rather than surface crossing has been considered which would completely 

separate pedestrians and vehicles. Clearance beneath the bridge would be significant as 

this is a primary route for all vehicles and requires significant land-take for the bridge ramps 

to meet design standards. This is a high-cost option with significant environmental 

challenges. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8



 

Table 1:  Options 

Option Comments 
 

Support development and delivery 
of a new pedestrian crossing on 
Braywick Road and allocated 
funding as part of the 2020/21 
capital programme. 
This is the recommended option 
 

This option responds positively to the 
petition and the changes to the local 
environment which are being constructed 
or planned 

Do not develop and introduce a 
pedestrian crossing on Braywick 
Road 
Not the recommended option 

This option is not recommended as it 
does not respond to the petition or the 
changing local environment 

 
 
 
3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

 
3.1 The key implications are set out in table 2. 
 

Table 2:  Key implications 

Defined 
Outcomes 

Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 
Exceeded 

Date they 
should be 
delivered 
by 

Delivery of a 
pedestrian 
crossing to 
align with the 
opening of 
the new 
leisure centre 

Installation by summer 2020 Summer 
2020 

 
 
4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE MONEY 
 
 Financial impact on the budget  
4.1 It is recommended that funding of £150,000 be included in the capital programme 2020/21 

(subject to formal approval as part of the budget process). 

4.2 There are no direct revenue implications as an outcome of this report.   

Table 3: Financial Impact of report’s recommendations 

REVENUE COSTS  2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Additional total £0 £0 £0 

Reduction £0 £0 £0 

Net Impact £0 £0 £0 

    

CAPITAL COSTS  2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Additional total £0  £0 £150,000 

Reduction £0 £0 £0 

Net Impact £0 £0 £150,000 

 

9



 

 
5.  LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 The council has duties under the Highways Act 1980; the Countryside and Rights of Way 

Act 2000; the Road Traffic Act 1988; the Environment Act 1995 and the Traffic 
Management Act 2004. 

 
6.  RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

Table 4: Impact of risk and mitigation 

Risks Uncontrolled 
Risk 

Controls Controlled 
Risk 

Funding is 
insufficient to 
deliver the 
proposed scheme 

Medium Budget estimates will be 
prepared as the scheme 
develops and contractor 
rates confirmed. Robust 
financial governance in 
place and regular 
updates to Members 

 Low 

Delays in 
delivering works 
programme 

Medium Achievable programme 
recommended subject to 
agreement of proposed 
scheme in 2019/20 

Low 

No agreement to 
proposed scheme 
during 
consultation phase 

Medium Extensive consultation 
and opportunities to 
revise designs built into 
the programme 

Low 

 
 
 
7 POTENTIAL IMPACTS  
 

None. 
 
 
8.  CONSULTATION  
 
8.1 Consultation will be undertaken as the scheme develops which will engage with Ward 

Members; residents and key stakeholders. Initial engagement will commence in February 
2019. 

 
9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 
 

Table 5: Implementation timetable 
Date  Details 

February – September 2019 Scheme development / Initial consultation 

October 2019 – January 2020 Consultation 

March – May 2020 Construction 

 
10.  APPENDICES 
 

None 

10



 

 
 
11.  BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 

 Petition: http://petitions.rbwm.gov.uk/BraywickCrossing/ 

  

 
12.  CONSULTATION (MANDATORY) 
 

Name of  
consultee  

Post held and  
Department  

Date 
sent 

Date  
received  

See 
comments  
in 
paragraph:  

Internal      

Cllr  Bicknell  Deputy Leader 
and Lead 
Member for 
Highways & 
Transport 

16/01/19 18/1/19  

Cllr Dudley Leader of the 
Council 

16/01/19 17/01/19 Comments 
added on 
consultation 
and bridge 
option 

Russell O’Keefe  Acting Managing 
Director  

16/01/19   

Andy Jeffs  Executive 
Director  

16/01/19 17/01/19 Minor 
amends and 
comments 

Hilary Hall Director Strategy 
and 
Commissioning 

15/01/19 16/01/19 Minor 
amends 

Rob Stubbs  Section 151 
Officer 

16/01/19 18/1/19  

Nikki Craig  Head of HR and 
Corporate 
Projects  

16/01/19 16/01/19 Approved 

Elaine Browne  Head of Law and 
Governance 

16/01/19   

David Scott Head of 
Communities; 
Partnerships & 
Enforcement 

16/01/19   

Louisa Dean Communications  16/01/19   

Kevin McDaniel Director of 
Children’s 
Services 

16/01/19 18/1/19  

Angela Morris Optalis Director 16/01/19   

 
 
 
 
 

11

http://petitions.rbwm.gov.uk/BraywickCrossing/


 

 REPORT HISTORY 
 

Decision type:  
N/A 

Urgency item? 
No  
 

To Follow item? 
No 

 

Full name of 
report author 

Job title Full contact no: 

Ben Smith Head of Commissioning – 
Communities 

01628 796147 

 
  
 

12



 

Report Title:     Polling district and polling places 
review 2018 

 

Contains Confidential or 
Exempt Information? 

No - Part I  

Member reporting:  Councillor Targowska, Lead Member for 
HR, Legal & IT and Councillor Gilmore, 
Chairman of the Polling District and Polling 
Places Review Working Group 

Meeting and Date:  Extraordinary Full Council 28 January 
2019 

Responsible Officer(s):  David Scott, Returning Officer 

Wards affected:   All 

 

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That Full Council notes the report and: 
 

REPORT SUMMARY  
 
1. This report sets out the recommendations of the cross-party polling district and 

polling places working group and the Returning Officer for reviewing the 
boundaries of the Borough’s parliamentary polling districts and designation of 
polling places for all types of elections. 

2. A review of polling districts and polling places was undertaken in the 
summer/autumn of 2018 following the outcome of the Local Government 
Boundary Commission for England’s review of the Borough’s electoral 
arrangements. The alterations to the ward boundaries will bring about significant 
change, which in turn, has led to significant changes to the council’s polling 
district and polling places scheme to facilitate the administration of next year’s 
local elections under the new ward arrangements.  

3. The Council has a duty to review polling districts and polling places every four 
years to ensure that they are located in positions that are convenient and 
accessible to the majority of electors. The Council must also seek to ensure that, 
so far as is reasonable and practicable, the polling places it designates are 
accessible to all electors, including taking into account the accessibility needs of 
people with disabilities. The last polling district and polling places review took 
place in 2014/2015.  

4. The report sets out a schedule for 62 polling districts each with a designated 
polling place. The boundaries and polling places of 31 of the polling districts 
remain unchanged from the current scheme. There are changes recommended 
to either the polling district boundary and/or the polling place for 31 of the polling 
districts. 

5. A new polling district coding system has been applied to the scheme to provide 
simplicity to the administration of future elections.  

13

Agenda Item 5



i) That the revised polling district boundaries and designation of 
the polling places affecting the following wards be approved, 
(as detailed in Appendix 1): 

 Belmont, Boyn Hill, Furze Platt, Oldfield, Riverside, St Mary’s, 
Ascot & Sunninghill, Clewer & Dedworth East, Clewer & 
Dedworth West, Clewer East, Datchet, Horton & Wraysbury, 
Eton & Castle, Old Windsor and Sunningdale & Cheapside. 

ii) That the Returning Officer reviews the polling districts and polling 
places following the May 2019 elections and recommend further 
revisions to the scheme where necessary, with the support of the 
polling district and polling places working group. If a further review 
is required, proposals will be referred to Council by no later than 31 
January 2020. 

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

2.1 The review of polling districts and polling places in 2018 was a mandatory 
exercise following the outcome of the final recommendations of the electoral 
review. Officers reviewed the suitability of the current polling places between 
March and May 2018. Members of the polling district and polling places 
working group met three times between July and September 2018 to devise a 
provisional polling district scheme, assisted by officers, for new polling district 
boundaries and corresponding polling places under the new warding 
framework.  
 

2.2 The general principle underpinning this review has been to introduce minimal 
change to electors’ current voting arrangements. The re-drawing of polling 
district boundaries is only recommended where compulsory change is required 
as a direct consequence of the re-drawing of ward boundaries or as a result of 
suggestions received from consultees responding to the review. Changes to 
polling places have only been recommended by officers where current polling 
places are no longer deemed to meet the suitability criteria, as set out by the 
Electoral Commission. 
 

2.3 A public consultation on the provisional scheme commenced on 1 October 
2018 and ran for a six-week period until 11 November 2018. The council 
consulted directly with a number of stakeholders including parish clerks, 
political parties, community groups and elected members (ward councillors). 
There was a very encouraging response to the initial consultation, with 50 
responses received from a wide range of sources including members of the 
public, parish councils and political groups. 
 

2.4 Comments and suggestions for change were reported to the working group at 
a meeting in mid-November 2018. The working group agreed to amend the 
provisional scheme to reflect the feedback and alternative proposals 
suggested by consultees who engaged in the first consultation. Four 
amendments were made to the provisional scheme relating to Pinkneys 
Green, Oldfield, Clewer East and Datchet.  
 

2.5 A second public consultation on the revised scheme launched on 23 
November 2018 and ran for a shorter period of 3 weeks; six responses were 
received during this period. The working group met for a final time in mid-

14



December 2018 to consider the comments received to the second consultation 
and to agree a final scheme to put forward to Full Council in January 2019. 
Three further and relatively minor amendments were made to the scheme in 
relation to Riverside, Oldfield, Clewer East and Ascot & Sunninghill wards at 
the final working group meeting in mid-December 2018. 
 

2.6 There are no changes proposed to polling district boundaries or polling places 
for the wards of Bisham & Cookham, Bray, Cox Green, and Hurley & 
Walthams.  
 

2.7 Belmont  
There is only one minor change proposed for Belmont ward relating to the re-
alignment of the polling district boundary of MBE2 to make the boundary 
coterminous with the new ward boundary separating Belmont from St Mary’s 
ward. The established polling places for the two polling districts remain 
unchanged.   

 
2.8 Boyn Hill  

There are two minor changes proposed for Boyn Hill ward relating to the re-
alignment of the two polling district boundaries to make them coterminous with 
the new ward boundary separating Boyn Hill from St Mary’s ward and 
Pinkneys Green ward. The established polling places for the two polling 
districts remain unchanged.   
 

2.9 Furze Platt 
The polling district boundary between MFP2 and MFP3 has been redrawn to 
allow roads north of St Mary’s School (West Mead, Aldebury Road, Partridge 
Mead, Spring Close and Barn Close) to vote at this polling station, instead of 
voting at St Peter’s Jubilee Room which is located on the opposite side of the 
ward. Likewise, roads north of Gardner Road and to the west of Switchback 
Road North (Kinghorn Park, Kinghorn Lane, Fawley Close, Cannon Court 
Road, and The Chase) will move from MFP3 to MFP2 to allow electors in this 
area to vote at St Peter’s Jubilee Room, their nearest polling station.  
 
Oldfield  

2.10  Significant change to both the polling district boundaries and designated 
polling places for Oldfield are proposed as a direct consequence of the 
changes made at ward level and the creation of the new town centre ward, St 
Mary’s.  
 

2.11 The polling district boundary for MOF1 remains unchanged but it is 
recommended to change the polling place from Larchfield Children’s Centre to 
Larchfield Community Centre, as the Community Centre can provide a better 
space suitable to accommodate a double polling station.  

2.12 Polling district MOF2 has been redrawn to transfer roads in the eastern part of 
the polling district (Cannock Close, Newbury Drive, Chiltern Road, Cotswold 
Close, Astor Close, Chauntry Road, Chalgrove Close and Forlease Drive) to 
form their own polling district, MOF4, and to designate the polling place as the 
current Forest Bridge School. It was originally proposed by the working group 
to keep the polling district boundary for MOF2 unchanged, however, residents 
in the affected roads responded to the first consultation and requested that 
they be allowed to vote at Forest Bridge School, their nearest polling station, 

15



and considered that SportsAble, the proposed polling place for MOF2 during 
the first consultation, was not easily accessible. As the polling district 
boundary for MOF3 is coterminous with the new parish ward the Fisheries in 
Bray Parish, the affected properties must form their own polling district, MOF4, 
to enable voting at the current Forest Bridge School site.  

2.13 During the second consultation, a further submission was received requesting 
that an alternative polling place for the properties remaining in MOF2 be 
found. The respondent expressed concerns that SportsAble remained 
inaccessible to electors located to the west of Braywick Road and that the lack 
of a crossing on the road made it difficult for electors travelling to the polling 
station by foot. Due to the speed of the road, the working group proposed to 
revert the polling place for these electors back to the Town Hall, which is their 
current polling station. As the Council Chamber is now proposed as a double 
station for polling district MSM2 in St Mary’s ward, it is recommended to 
designate the polling place to the Ascot/Bray rooms on the ground floor of the 
Town Hall. 

2.14 It is proposed to no longer use the current Oldfield Primary School as a 
designated polling place as the school has expressed strong concerns about 
the ongoing arrangement to serve as a polling station and the disruption 
caused to the school.  

2.15 Pinkneys Green 
As part of the provisional polling district scheme, the working group proposed 
to change the polling place for MPG2 to Pinkneys Green Cricket Club from the 
Youth & Community Centre as members had expressed concerns about the 
suitability of the location of the Youth & Community Centre on the far eastern 
edge of the polling district and the distance of the polling station from electors 
located in the far northern part of the polling district. During the first 
consultation, twenty-four representations were received in response to the 
suitability of the Cricket Club alone. Four of the representations which were 
made by members of the public advocated the change to the Cricket Club due 
to its central location, however, twenty representations from ward councillors, 
members of the public and the Access Advisory Forum, expressed significant 
reservations about the Cricket Club’s suitability. A lack of a footpath, 
inadequate parking facilities, and the inadequate access arrangements for 
disabled voters in particular, influenced the working group’s decision to 
reinstate the Youth & Community Centre as the polling place. 

2.16 Riverside 
There are minor amendments proposed for polling district MRS1, as properties 
south of Ray Mill Road West and north of Kennet Road will be transferring to 
the new St Mary’s ward. The polling district boundaries separating Riverside 
and St Mary’s ward have been redrawn to reflect the amendments made at 
ward level. 

2.17 In the provisional polling district scheme, it was proposed to make no changes 
to the boundary line separating MRS2 and MRS3 and to retain both of the 
current polling places; Mill House Family Centre and Thames Hotel. A 
submission was received from a local resident suggesting that Kingfisher Drive 
and its immediate environs be transferred from MRS3 to MRS2, to facilitate 
voting at the Mill House Family Centre for electors living in this area. The 

16



working group endorsed this suggestion as another consequence of redrawing 
the polling district boundary would mean that the polling place for MRS2 would 
now be located in the polling district it serves.   

2.18 St Mary’s 
Two new polling districts are proposed for St Mary’s ward. Polling district 
MSM1 consists of parts of the former Riverside ward (Evenlode, Florence 
Avenue, Hazel Close, Coln Close and Fullbrook Close), and parts of the 
former Belmont ward (Craufurd Rise, Russell Close, The Crescent, Sun Lane). 
The polling place is proposed as Marlow Road Community Centre. 

2.19 Polling district MSM2 consists of predominately parts of the former Oldfield 
ward and streets in the town centre (Fotherby Court, Cedars Road, Langdale 
Close, Kingsquarter, The Farthingales, Old Acres, Horseguards Drive and 
Guards Club Road) and also High Town Road, North Road, South Road, 
Albert Street, East Road, West Road and Grenfell Road, which belong to Boyn 
Hill ward under the current electoral arrangements. The polling place is 
proposed as the Council Chamber in the Town Hall, which is an established 
polling district and already serves as the designated polling place for 
properties situated in the current Oldfield ward.  

2.20 Ascot & Sunninghill 
It is proposed to amalgamate two polling districts (labelled AA and AB under 
the previous polling district schedule) to form the new WAS1 polling district. 
This will make WAS1 coterminous with the new parish ward of Ascot, part of 
Sunninghill and Ascot Parish. The polling place is to be retained as All Saints’ 
Church Hall, an established polling station.  

2.21 The polling district boundaries for WAS2 and WAS3 remain unchanged and 
their current polling places, South Ascot Church Hall and Ascot District Day 
Centre, also remain unchanged. 

2.22 Clewer & Dedworth East 
There is a minor amendment proposed to the redrawing of polling district 
WCDE1 to make the western edge of the polling district separating it from the 
new Clewer & Dedworth West ward (properties on Smiths Lane) coterminous 
with the new boundary line separating the two wards. 

2.23 The polling district boundary for WCDE2 amalgamates polling district JC 
(Clewer East ward) and VC (Park ward). It is recommended to designate the 
Spencer Denney Centre as the polling place for the new polling district, as it is 
in a central location and is an established polling station. 

2.24 Polling district WCDE3 is coterminous with the former polling district VB. The 
properties in this polling district were previously part of Park ward. It is 
recommended to place a mobile unit on the corner of Gratton Drive and St 
Leonard’s Hill to serve as a polling station, as there is no suitable building to 
use within the polling district boundary and a mobile unit has been placed in 
this location previously. 

 

17



2.25 Clewer & Dedworth West 
There is a minor amendment proposed to the redrawing of polling district 
WCDW1 to make the eastern edge of the polling district separating it from 
Clewer & Dedworth East ward (properties on Smith Lane) coterminous with 
the new boundary line separating the two wards. It is proposed to move the 
polling place from Homer First School to Dedworth Middle School, as 
Dedworth Middle School has indicated that it will not need to close on polling 
day and disruption will be kept at a minimum. 

2.26 It is proposed to amalgamate polling districts HA (Clewer North ward) and JA 
(Clewer South ward) to form the new WCDW2 polling district and to designate 
the polling place as Windsor Gospel Hall. The polling district boundary will be 
coterminous with the new parish ward of Dedworth in Bray Parish. 

2.27 It is proposed to amalgamate polling districts JB (Clewer South ward) and VA 
(Park ward) to form the new WCDW3 polling district and to designate the 
polling place as Tinkers Lane Depot. 

2.28 Clewer East 
The polling district boundary for WCE3 remains unchanged and the current 
polling place, Clewer Youth & Community Centre, retained. It is proposed to 
extend the polling district boundary for WCE1 to include properties south of 
Winkfield Road and to the west of Hermitage Lane, which are now part of 
Clewer East following the ward boundary changes. It was originally proposed 
to include these properties in polling district WCE2, but a representation was 
made by a local resident to allocate these properties to Clewer Green School, 
which is nearer to these properties than Kipling Court, the polling place for 
WCE2.  

2.29 Polling district WCE2 has been extended to include properties south of St 
Leonards Road which are transferring from Park to Clewer East as a result of 
the boundary changes at ward level.  

2.30 Datchet, Horton and Wraysbury 
The polling district changes for this ward relate to Datchet only and the polling 
district boundaries and polling places for Horton and Wraysbury remain 
unaltered. It is recommended to create two polling districts for Datchet, 
WDHW1 and WDHW2 and allocate Datchet Village Hall as the polling place 
for both. The Women’s Institute Hall currently serves as the polling place for 
Datchet. The provisional polling district scheme had proposed that both the 
Women’s Institute Hall and Datchet Village Hall be appointed as polling 
places, each serving one of the two new polling districts. However, Datchet 
Parish Council and residents responded to the first consultation, expressing a 
preference for retaining one polling place for the whole of Datchet and 
recommending the Village Hall as the preferred option due to its overall 
facilities. 

2.31 Eton & Castle 
It is proposed to amalgamate polling district FB (Castle Without ward) and the 
half of polling district MB (Eton & Castle) retained under the new warding 
configuration, to form polling district WEC2. The polling place is proposed as 
St Stephen’s School Rooms, which is the current polling place for FB. It is 
recommended to discontinue using the Guildhall as a polling place, as 

18



accessibility restrictions make it unsuitable. This view was supported by a 
submission made by the contact for the venue during the first consultation. 

2.32 Polling district WEC1 will consist of polling districts FA and FC, both currently 
in Castle Without ward. It is proposed to use All Saints Church Hall as the 
polling place for the new polling district, which is an established polling station 
and has been successfully used for past elections. 

2.33 Old Windsor 
There are no changes proposed to the boundaries or designated polling 
places for WOW1 or WOW2. Polling district WOW4 consists of polling districts 
VB and VD in Park ward and the polling place has been designated as 
Gardeners’ Hall. It is recommended to discontinue use of the Army Reserve 
Centre which currently serves electors in VD, due to access restrictions which 
render it unsuitable. Whilst Gardeners’ Hall is just outside the polling district 
boundary and also sits in an adjacent ward (Clewer East), the distance of the 
building from the former polling station is not too far and it is not considered 
unreasonable to require the residents of the Boltons to travel to Gardeners’ 
Hall, as no other suitable venue is available within the polling district boundary. 

2.34 It is proposed to create a new polling district, WOW3, consisting of the Home 
Park area that was formerly part of Eton & Castle ward. The working group 
had considered assigning this area to Gardeners’ Hall, but it was considered 
preferable to allocate them to Old Windsor Memorial Hall as this polling station 
is geographically closer and access is better. To facilitate this, the Home Park 
must be created as its own polling district and the polling district boundary for 
neighbouring WOW2 extended, because this area forms part of Old Windsor 
Parish and a polling district cannot contain both parished and unparished 
areas. 

2.35 Sunningdale & Cheapside 
There are no amendments proposed to polling district WSC3 and it is 
recommended to retain the mobile unit in Waitrose carpark as the designated 
polling place. WSC1 is proposed as a new polling district for the ward and to 
extend the current polling district boundary include Heathfield Avenue and 
Larch Avenue, to ensure the boundary separating WSC1 and WSC2 is 
coterminous with the boundary line separating Sunningdale and Sunninghill & 
Ascot parishes.  
 

19



 Options 

 Table 1: Options arising from this report 

Option Comments 

Council supports and approves the 
polling district and/or polling places 
changes proposed affecting ALL 
wards as detailed in the report and 
summarised in Appendix 1 of the 
polling district schedule. 
 
Recommended option 

 
 
There are no changes proposed for 
the wards of Bisham & Cookham, 
Bray, Cox Green, and Hurley & 
Walthams.  
 

To make no changes to the 
boundaries of the current polling 
districts and designation of polling 
places.  
 
Not the recommended option 

Changes to polling district 
boundaries and polling places are 
required to ensure the local 
elections can be delivered under the 
new warding arrangements.  

To agree a different allocation of 
polling places and alternative ward 
boundaries where changes are 
required. 

 

 Not the recommended option 

The polling district review is required 
to conclude by the end of January 
2019 so that the electoral register 
can be republished under the new 
ward boundaries on 1 February 
2019, as planned. A further review 
will be required and further changes 
could be considered as part of that 
next review in 2019/2020, after the 
May 2019 elections.  

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

Table 2: Key Implications 

Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 
Exceeded 

Date of 
delivery 

Electors are 
able to cast 
their vote in 
a place that 
is 
convenient 
and 
accessible 

All 
electors 
are 
unable to 
cast their 
vote. 

All electors 
are able to 
cast their 
vote and 
historic 
turnout 
levels are 
maintained. 

All electors 
are able to 
cast their 
vote and 
there is a 
notable 
(3%) 
increase in 
the turnout 
at future 
elections. 

All eligible 
electors are 
able to cast 
their vote and 
there is a 
significant 
(more than 
3%) increase 
in the turnout 
at future 
elections 

May 
2019. 

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY 

4.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendations, 
although it is anticipated that the overall costs associated with booking venues 
for use as polling stations will be higher than in previous years due to the fact 

20



that one additional mobile unit is proposed (for use at Gratton Drive). The 
costs of administering next year’s local elections will need to be met in full by 
the Borough, whereas for previous elections, a portion of the costs have been 
shared with central government where local elections have been combined 
with a national election or referendum. 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The Electoral Administration Act 2006 places a duty on Councils to conduct a 
review of polling places and polling districts every four years.  Although the 
last full review was undertaken in 2007, the polling places are reviewed prior 
to each election and the last review was considered by Council in 2015.    

5.2 In making arrangements for the operation of the Borough Election and the 
establishment of Polling Places, the officers have acted in accordance with all 
appropriate legislation, principally the Representation of the Peoples Act, 
Electoral Administration Act and the Disability Discrimination Act. The 2013 
Electoral Registration and Administration Act introduced a change to the 
timing of compulsory reviews of UK Parliamentary polling districts and places, 
and this review reflects this change.  

6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

Table 3: Impact of risk and mitigation 

Risks Uncontrolled 
risk 

Controls Controlled 
risk 

Failure to carry 
out a review of 
polling districts 
and polling 
places 

Failure to carry 
out a review 
could result in 
a legal 
challenge. 

Ensure that the review is 
undertaken 

Carry out a 
review of 
polling districts 
and polling 
places prior to 
each election 
in accordance 
with the 
published 
guidance. 

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1      The Council must seek to ensure that, so far as is reasonable and practicable, 
the polling places it designates are accessible to all electors, including taking 
into account the accessibility needs of people with disabilities. 

8. CONSULTATION 

8.1      Notices advising the Review were placed in public buildings and on the    
Council’s website for each stage of the review commencing on 1 October 2018 
and 23 November 2018. All Members of the Council, local political parties; 
Parish Councils, political groups, local community groups and booking 
contacts for current polling station venues, were consulted directly and invited 
to engage with the review. The cross party polling district and polling places 

21



working group have considered all responses and comments received during 
both stages of the review. Public engagement in the first stage of the review 
was particularly encouraging with fifty responses received in total, six 
representations were made as a result of the second consultation. 

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

9.1 The full implementation stages are set out in table 4. 

Table 4: Implementation timetable 

Date Details 

28.01.2019 Full Council endorse the Polling District & Polling Places 
schedule 2019 as recommended unanimously by the 
cross party working group.  

01.02.2019 Electoral register is republished under new ward and 
polling district boundaries. 

10. APPENDICES  

10.1 This report is supported by one appendix: 

 Appendix 1 – Polling district and polling places schedule 2019 

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

11.1 This report is supported by two sets of background documents: 

 Polling district and polling places working group – Terms of Reference 

 Summary notes from polling district and polling places working group 
meetings (July – December 2018) 

12. CONSULTATION (MANDATORY)  

Name of 
consultee  

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned  

Councillor 
Targowska 

Lead Member for HR, Legal 
and IT 

16/1/19 16/1/19 

Councillor Gilmore Chairman of the Polling District 
and Polling Places Review 
Working Group 

2/1/19 11/1/19 

Russell O’Keefe Acting Managing Director  2/1/19  

Rob Stubbs Section 151 Officer 2/1/19  

Elaine Browne Interim Head of Law and 
Governance 

16/1/19  

Nikki Craig Head of HR and Corporate 
Projects 

16/1/19 16/1/19 

Louisa Dean Communications 2/1/19  

Andy Jeffs Executive Director 16/1/19 17/1/19 

Kevin McDaniel Director of Children’s Services 16/1/19  

Angela Morris Director of Adult Social 
Services 

16/1/19  

22



Name of 
consultee  

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned  

Hilary Hall Deputy Director of 
Commissioning and Strategy 

16/1/19 16/1/19 

David Scott Returning Officer 20/12/18 2/1/19 

Karen Shepherd Service Lead – Governance 20/12/18 24/12/18 & 
2/1/19 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type:  
N/A 

Urgency item? 
No  
 

To Follow item? 
No 

Report Author: Suzanne Martin, Electoral & Information Governance Services 
Manager, 01628 682935.  

 
 

 

23



Appendix 1 – Polling District & Polling Places Schedule 2019 
Ward Polling 

District  
 Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
Place  

Overall 
Electorate 

(September 
2018) 

Polling 
Station 

Electorate 
(September 

2018) 

No. Polling 
Stations 

required at 
Polling 
Place 

Recommendations of the Acting 
Returning Officer  

Belmont 

Belmont West MBE1 Mobile unit, 
St. Marks 
Hospital, St. 
Marks Road, 
SL6 6DU 

3,174 2,725 2 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

Belmont East MBE2 St. Luke’s 
Community 
Hall, Norfolk 
Road, SL6 
7AX 

2,039 1,705 2 Change to polling district boundary to 
reflect ward boundary changes. Norfolk 
Road and St Luke's Road and its 
immediate environs will be transferring to 
St Mary's ward and are no longer part of 
Belmont ward.  The polling district 
boundary is coterminous with the new ward 
boundary line between Belmont and St 
Mary's.  

Bisham & 
Cookham 

Bisham  MBC1 Bisham 
Primary 
School, 
Church 
Lane, SL7 
1RW 

873 667 1 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

Cookham MBC2 Rogers 
Room, Holy 
Trinity Parish 
Centre, 
Churchgate, 
SL6 9SP 

496 410 1 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

Cookham 
Rise 

MBC3 Pinder Hall, 
Lower Road, 
SL6 9EH 

2,952 2,440 2 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

24



Appendix 1 – Polling District & Polling Places Schedule 2019 
Ward Polling 

District  
 Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
Place  

Overall 
Electorate 

(September 
2018) 

Polling 
Station 

Electorate 
(September 

2018) 

No. Polling 
Stations 

required at 
Polling 
Place 

Recommendations of the Acting 
Returning Officer  

Cookham 
West 

MBC4 Cookham 
Dean Village 
Hall, Church 
Road, SL6 
9PD 

1,037 855 1 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

Boyn Hill 

Boyn Hill 
Central 

MBH1 All Saints 
Parish 
Centre, 
Church 
Close, Boyn 
Hill Road, 
SL6 4HE 

2,553 2,243 2 Change to polling district boundary. 
Properties on Grenfell Road and east of 
the railway line, High Town Road, North 
Road, East Road, Albert Street and South 
Road will be transferring to St Mary's ward 
and will no longer be part of Boyn Hill ward. 
The polling district boundary is coterminous 
with the new ward boundary line between 
Boyn Hill and St Mary's wards.  

Boyn Hill 
West 

MBH2 St. Edmund 
Campion 
Parish 
Centre, 40a 
Altwood 
Road, SL6 
4PY 

2,522 2,277 2 Change to polling district boundary. 
No’s 11, 13, 19, 19A, 21, and Clara Court 
on Court House Road, to be transferred 
from Pinkneys Green as part of ward 
boundary changes to Boyn Hill, and added 
to the current polling district boundary.  

Bray 

Bray Village MBR1 Bray Village 
Hall, High 
Street, SL6 
2AR 

2,291 1,909 2 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

25



Appendix 1 – Polling District & Polling Places Schedule 2019 
Ward Polling 

District  
 Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
Place  

Overall 
Electorate 

(September 
2018) 

Polling 
Station 

Electorate 
(September 

2018) 

No. Polling 
Stations 

required at 
Polling 
Place 

Recommendations of the Acting 
Returning Officer  

Holyport MBR2 Holyport 
Primary 
School, 
Stroud Farm 
Road, SL6 
2LP 

2,551 2,166 2 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

Oakley Green 
and Fifield 

MBR3 Braywood 
Memorial 
Hall, Fifield 
Road, SL6 
2NX 

811 694 1 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

Cox Green 

Cox Green 
South 

MCG1 Cox Green 
Community 
Centre, 51 
Highfield 
Lane, SL6 
3AY 

1,570 1,324 1 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

Cox Green  
North 

MCG2 Cox Green 
Community 
Centre, 51 
Highfield 
Lane, SL6 
3AY 

1,836 1,586 1 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

Cox Green 
East 

MCG3 The Scout 
Hut, Cox 
Green Road, 
SL6 3ED 

2,277 1,939 2 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

26



Appendix 1 – Polling District & Polling Places Schedule 2019 
Ward Polling 

District  
 Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
Place  

Overall 
Electorate 

(September 
2018) 

Polling 
Station 

Electorate 
(September 

2018) 

No. Polling 
Stations 

required at 
Polling 
Place 

Recommendations of the Acting 
Returning Officer  

Furze Platt 

Furze Platt 
West 

MFP1 Furze Platt 
Memorial 
Hall, Furze 
Platt Road, 
SL6 7NG 

1,894 1,555 1 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

Furze Platt 
Central 

MFP2 St. Peters 
Jubilee 
Room, St 
Peters Road, 
SL6 7QU 

1,312 1,125 1 Change to polling district boundary. 
Realignment of polling district boundary 
between MFP2 and MFP3 to distribute 
more evenly properties allocated to FP 
Memorial Hall and the Jubilee Hall. 
Properties on Queensway, Sylvester Road, 
Whurley Way, Kent Way, Connaught 
Close, Edinburgh Road, Gloucester Road, 
Moffy Hill, Wellhouse Road, Homeside 
Close, Anne Close, moving from MFP2 
(previously PB) to MFP3 (previously PC), 
to allow electors to vote at St Mary's 
School. Properties on Switchback Road 
South, Cannon Court Road, The Chase, 
Fawley Close, Kinghorn Lane and 
Kinghorn Park transferring from MFP3 (PC) 
to MFP2 (PB) to allow electors to vote at 
the Jubilee Room, their nearest polling 
station.  

27



Appendix 1 – Polling District & Polling Places Schedule 2019 
Ward Polling 

District  
 Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
Place  

Overall 
Electorate 

(September 
2018) 

Polling 
Station 

Electorate 
(September 

2018) 

No. Polling 
Stations 

required at 
Polling 
Place 

Recommendations of the Acting 
Returning Officer  

Furze Platt 
East 

MFP3 St Mary's 
RC School, 
Cookham 
Road, SL6 
7EG 

2,503 2,136 2 Change to polling district boundary. 
Realignment of polling district boundary 
between MFP2 and MFP3 to distribute 
more evenly properties allocated to FP 
Memorial Hall and the Jubilee Hall. 
Properties on Queensway, Sylvester Road, 
Whurley Way, Kent Way, Connaught 
Close, Edinburgh Road, Gloucester Road, 
Moffy Hill, Wellhouse Road, Homeside 
Close, Anne Close, moving from MFP2 
(previously PB) to MFP3 (previously PC), 
to allow electors to vote at St Mary's 
School. Properties on Switchback Road 
South, Cannon Court Road, The Chase, 
Fawley Close, Kinghorn Lane and 
Kinghorn Park transferring from MFP3 (PC) 
to MFP2 (PB) to allow electors to vote at 
the Jubilee Room, their nearest polling 
station.  

Hurley & 
Walthams 

Hurley North MHW1 Hurley 
Village Hall, 
High Street, 
Hurley, SL6 
5LT 

722 590 1 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

Hurley South MHW2 Knowl Hill 
Village Hall, 
The Terrace, 
Bath Road, 
RG10 9XB 

761 636 1 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

28



Appendix 1 – Polling District & Polling Places Schedule 2019 
Ward Polling 

District  
 Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
Place  

Overall 
Electorate 

(September 
2018) 

Polling 
Station 

Electorate 
(September 

2018) 

No. Polling 
Stations 

required at 
Polling 
Place 

Recommendations of the Acting 
Returning Officer  

Shottesbrooke MHW3 White 
Waltham 
Parish Hall, 
Holly 
Cottage, 
Waltham 
Road, SL6 
3SG 

99 89 1 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

Waltham St 
Lawrence 

MHW4 The Neville 
Memorial 
Hall, Milley 
Road, RG10 
0JP 

1,005 843 1 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

Littlewick 
Green 

MHW5 Gilchrist 
Memorial 
Hall, 
Littlewick 
Green, SL6 
3RF 

376 302 1 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

White 
Waltham and 
Paley Street 

MHW6 White 
Waltham 
Parish Hall, 
Holly 
Cottage, 
Waltham 
Road, SL6 
3SG 

386 310 1 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

29



Appendix 1 – Polling District & Polling Places Schedule 2019 
Ward Polling 

District  
 Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
Place  

Overall 
Electorate 

(September 
2018) 

Polling 
Station 

Electorate 
(September 

2018) 

No. Polling 
Stations 

required at 
Polling 
Place 

Recommendations of the Acting 
Returning Officer  

Woodlands 
Park 

MHW7 Woodlands 
Park Village 
Centre, 
Manifold 
Way, SL6 
3GW 

1,457 1,270 1 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

Oldfield 

Oldfield West MOF1 Larchfield 
Community 
Centre, 
Desborough 
Park, SL6 
2TN 

2,886 2,510 2 Change to polling place. It is proposed to 
no longer use Larchfield Children's Centre, 
the current polling place, as the room is not 
large enough to facilitate a double station. 
Larchfield Community Centre is a more 
suitable size and remains central to the 
polling district.  

Oldfield 
Central 

MOF2 Ascot/Bray 
rooms, Town 
Hall, St Ives 
Road, SL6 
1RF 

1,089 856 1 Change to polling district boundary. 
Properties in the northern part of the polling 
district boundary to the north of the railway 
line will no longer from part of Oldfield ward 
and will transfer to St Mary's. The Council 
Chamber at the Town Hall is an 
established polling place and already 
serves as the polling place for MOF2. 
Properties on Chiltern Road, Cotswold 
Close, Astor Close, Cleveland Close, 
Newbury Drive, Cannock Close, Chauntry 
Road and Forlease Drive will transfer from 
MOF2 to form their own polling district in 
MOF4 to facilitate voting at Forest Bridge 
school.  

30



Appendix 1 – Polling District & Polling Places Schedule 2019 
Ward Polling 

District  
 Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
Place  

Overall 
Electorate 

(September 
2018) 

Polling 
Station 

Electorate 
(September 

2018) 

No. Polling 
Stations 

required at 
Polling 
Place 

Recommendations of the Acting 
Returning Officer  

Fisheries MOF3 Forest 
Bridge 
School, 
Chiltern 
Road, SL6 
1XA 

227 134 1 Change to polling district boundary & 
polling place. It is proposed to no longer 
use Oldfield Primary School which often 
closes on the day of an election. Forest 
Bridge School has indicated that it can 
operate as a polling station and remain 
open on polling day. It is proposed to have 
two polling stations operating on the 
premises; MOF3 which will cater for the 
Fisheries part of Bray Parish and MOF4, a 
new polling district comprising properties 
previously belonging to MOF2.  

Oldfield North MOF4 Forest 
Bridge 
School, 
Chiltern 
Road, SL6 
1XA 

672 558 1 Change to polling district boundary & 
polling place. It is proposed to no longer 
use Oldfield Primary School which often 
closes on the day of an election. Forest 
Bridge School has indicated that it can 
operate as a polling station and remain 
open on polling day. It is proposed to have 
two polling stations operating on the 
premises; MOF3 which will cater for the 
Fisheries part of Bray Parish and MOF4, a 
new polling district comprising properties 
previously belonging to MOF2.  
 

Pinkneys 
Green 

Pinkneys 
Green South 

MPG1 The 
Methodist 
Church, St 
Mark's 

2,824 2,331 2 Change to polling district boundary. 
No’s 11, 13, 19, 19A, 21, and Clara Court 
on Court House Road, to be removed from 
MPG1 and transferred to MBH2 to reflect 
ward boundary changes.  

31



Appendix 1 – Polling District & Polling Places Schedule 2019 
Ward Polling 

District  
 Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
Place  

Overall 
Electorate 

(September 
2018) 

Polling 
Station 

Electorate 
(September 

2018) 

No. Polling 
Stations 

required at 
Polling 
Place 

Recommendations of the Acting 
Returning Officer  

Crescent, 
SL6 5DG 

Pinkneys 
Green North 

MPG2 Pinkneys 
Green Youth 
& 
Community 
Centre, 
Blenheim 
Road, SL6 
5HE 

2,764 2,257 2 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

Riverside 

Maidenhead 
Riverside 

West 

MRS1 Riverside 
Children's 
Centre, West 
Dean, SL6 
7JB 

1,141 965 1 Change to polling district boundary. 
Properties south of Ray Mill Road East in 
the south of the current polling district will 
be transferring to St Mary's ward. 

Maidenhead 
Riverside 

North 

MRS2 Mill House 
Family 
Centre, 18-
20 Ray Mill 
Road East, 
SL6 8ST 

1,765 1,363 1 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

Maidenhead 
Riverside 

South 

MRS3 Thames 
Hotel, Ray 
Mead Road, 
SL6 8NR 

2,678 2,145 2 Change to polling district boundary. 
Properties on Moorfield Terrace, Fullbrook 
Close and Blackamoor Lane (partial) will be 
transferring to St Mary's ward and will be 
removed from this polling district.  

32



Appendix 1 – Polling District & Polling Places Schedule 2019 
Ward Polling 

District  
 Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
Place  

Overall 
Electorate 

(September 
2018) 

Polling 
Station 

Electorate 
(September 

2018) 

No. Polling 
Stations 

required at 
Polling 
Place 

Recommendations of the Acting 
Returning Officer  

St Mary's 

St Mary's 
North 

MSM1 Marlow 
Road 
Community 
Centre, 4 
Marlow 
Road, SL6 
7YR 

1,990 1,484 1 Change to polling district boundary & 
polling place. (New ward.) Creation of a 
new polling district as a result of creation of 
the new St Mary's ward. The polling district 
comprises part of the former Oldfield and 
Belmont wards and polling district MBE2 
and Riverside ward's polling districts MRS1 
and MRS3. The polling place is a new 
polling station, which has not been used 
before but evaluated to have adequate 
facilities to accommodate a double station.  

St Mary's 
South 

MSM2 Council 
Chamber, 
Town Hall, 
St Ives 
Road, SL6 
1RF 

2,647 2,185 2 Change to polling district boundary & 
polling place. (New ward.) Creation of a 
new polling district as a result of creation of 
the new St Mary's ward. The polling district 
comprises parts of the former Oldfield and 
Boyn Hill wards. The Council Chamber is 
already the established polling place for a 
polling district in the current Oldfield ward.  

Ascot & 
Sunninghill 

Ascot WAS1 All Saints 
Church Hall, 
London 
Road, Ascot 
Heath, SL5 
8DQ 

3,499 2,804 2 Change to polling district boundary & 
polling place. It is proposed to merge the 
two current polling districts AA & AB to 
form the new WAS1. All Saints Church Hall 
is already the established polling place for 
AA.  

33



Appendix 1 – Polling District & Polling Places Schedule 2019 
Ward Polling 

District  
 Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
Place  

Overall 
Electorate 

(September 
2018) 

Polling 
Station 

Electorate 
(September 

2018) 

No. Polling 
Stations 

required at 
Polling 
Place 

Recommendations of the Acting 
Returning Officer  

South Ascot WAS2 South Ascot 
Church Hall, 
Church 
Road, South 
Ascot, SL5 
9DP 

2,710 2,277 2 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

Sunninghill WAS3 Ascot District 
Day Centre, 
Bagshot 
Road, 
Sunninghill, 
SL5 9PD 

2,164 1,793 2 Change to polling district boundary. 
Properties on Heathfield Avenue and Larch 
Avenue will be removed from this polling 
district and transferred to Sunningdale and 
Cheapside as a result of ward boundary 
changes. This boundary will be 
coterminous with both the parish and ward 
boundaries.  

Clewer & 
Dedworth 

East 

Dedworth 
Manor 

WCDE1 The Manor 
Youth 
Centre, 
Hanover 
Way, SL4 
5NW 

2,157 1,923 2 Change to polling district boundary. 
Properties on Smiths Lane transferred from 
polling district WCDE1 in the former Clewer 
North ward to WCDW1 in the new Clewer 
and Dedworth West ward. Polling district 
boundary now coterminous with new ward 
boundary changes. 

Clewer Hill  WCDE2 The Spencer 
Denney 
Centre, Park 
Corner, 
Clewer Hill 
Road, SL4 
4EB 

2,304 1,967 2 Change to polling district boundary. 
New polling district comprising former 
polling districts JC (Clewer South) and VC 
in the former Park ward. Spencer Denney 
is the established polling place for the 
current polling district JC.  

34



Appendix 1 – Polling District & Polling Places Schedule 2019 
Ward Polling 

District  
 Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
Place  

Overall 
Electorate 

(September 
2018) 

Polling 
Station 

Electorate 
(September 

2018) 

No. Polling 
Stations 

required at 
Polling 
Place 

Recommendations of the Acting 
Returning Officer  

St Leonard's WCDE3 Mobile unit 
at St 
Leonard's 
Hill, SL4 4AL 

868 655 1 Change to polling district boundary and 
polling place. Polling district boundary 
comprising the majority of current polling 
district VB in Park ward. Change of polling 
place to a mobile unit off St Leonard's Hill 
as Gardener's Hall is outside of the polling 
district and boundary for the new ward. 

Clewer & 
Dedworth 

West 

  Dedworth 
Riverside 

WCDW1 Dedworth 
Middle 
School, 
Smiths Lane, 
SL4 5PE 

2,383 2,097 2 Change to polling district boundary & 
polling place. Properties on Smiths Lane 
transferred from polling district WCDE1 in 
the former Clewer North ward to WCDW1 
in the new Clewer and Dedworth West 
ward. Polling district boundary now 
coterminous with new ward boundary 
changes. Change of polling place from 
Homer First School to Dedworth Middle 
School as Dedworth Middle School has 
suitable facilities on site to provide for the 
school remaining open on polling day 
where Homer First does not.  

35



Appendix 1 – Polling District & Polling Places Schedule 2019 
Ward Polling 

District  
 Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
Place  

Overall 
Electorate 

(September 
2018) 

Polling 
Station 

Electorate 
(September 

2018) 

No. Polling 
Stations 

required at 
Polling 
Place 

Recommendations of the Acting 
Returning Officer  

Willows WCDW2 Windsor 
Gospel Hall, 
Ruddlesway, 
SL4 5SJ 

925 788 1 Change to polling district boundary & 
polling place. It is proposed to 
amalgamate the current two polling districts 
HA and JA in Clewer North and Clewer 
South wards to form the new WCDW2 
ward. Voters in VA and JB both currently 
vote at Tinkers Lane. Windsor Gospel Hall 
is proposed as the new polling place for 
WCDW2, as even though it is outside the 
polling district, it better serves the needs of 
the electorate than Tinkers Lane Depot.  

Dedworth 
Green 

WCDW3 Tinkers Lane 
Depot, 
Tinkers 
Lane, 
Dedworth, 
SL4 4LR 

2,215 1,940 2 Change to polling district boundary. It is 
proposed to amalgamate the current two 
polling districts JB (Clewer South) and VA 
(Park) to form the new polling district 
WCDW3. Tinkers Lane Depot is already 
the polling place for JB.  

Clewer East 

 Clewer New 
Town 

WCE1 Clewer 
Green 
School, 
Hatch Lane, 
SL4 3RL 

1,918 1,555 1 Change to polling district boundary. 
Current polling district to expand to include 
properties south of St Leonard's Road 
which are currently situated in Park ward. 
Polling place to remain as Clewer Green 
School which is already an established 
polling place for the polling district.  

Spital WCE2 Kipling 
Court, York 
Road, SL4 
3NX 

2,264 2,075 2 Change to polling district boundary. 
Current polling district to expand to include 
Hermitage Lane and Winkfield Road (part) 
to allow electors on these streets to vote at 

36



Appendix 1 – Polling District & Polling Places Schedule 2019 
Ward Polling 

District  
 Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
Place  

Overall 
Electorate 

(September 
2018) 

Polling 
Station 

Electorate 
(September 

2018) 

No. Polling 
Stations 

required at 
Polling 
Place 

Recommendations of the Acting 
Returning Officer  

their nearest polling place, Clewer Green 
School.  

Clewer Village WCE3 Clewer 
Youth & 
Community 
Centre, 39A 
Parsonage 
Lane, SL4 
5EW 

919 820 1 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

Datchet, 
Horton & 

Wraysbury 

Datchet West WDHW1 Datchet 
Village Hall, 
Allen Way, 
Datchet, SL3 
9HR 

1,858 1,600 1 Change to polling district boundary and 
polling place. Current polling district LA for 
Datchet to be split in half and polling place 
to move from Women’s Institute Hall to 
Datchet Village Hall. Facilities and access 
is better at the Village Hall to 
accommodate a double polling station.  

Datchet East WDHW2 Datchet 
Village Hall, 
Allen Way, 
Datchet, SL3 
9HR 

1,928 1,671 1 Change to polling district boundary and 
polling place. Current polling district LA for 
Datchet to be split in half and polling place 
to move from Women’s Institute Hall to 
Datchet Village Hall. Facilities and access 
is better at the Village Hall to 
accommodate a double polling station.  

37



Appendix 1 – Polling District & Polling Places Schedule 2019 
Ward Polling 

District  
 Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
Place  

Overall 
Electorate 

(September 
2018) 

Polling 
Station 

Electorate 
(September 

2018) 

No. Polling 
Stations 

required at 
Polling 
Place 

Recommendations of the Acting 
Returning Officer  

Horton WDHW3 The 
Champney 
Hall, 
Stanwell 
Road, 
Horton, SL3 
9PA 

860 741 1 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

Wraysbury WDHW4 Wraysbury 
Village Hall, 
The Green, 
Wraysbury, 
TW19 5NA 

3,244 2,786 2 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

Eton & 
Castle 

Castle South WEC1 All Saints 
Church Hall, 
Alexandra 
Road, SL4 
3AJ 

3,200 2,739 2 Change to polling district boundary. 
New polling district comprising current 
polling districts FA & FC. All Saints Church 
Hall is already an established polling place 
for FC.  

Castle North WEC2 St. 
Stephen’s 
School 
Rooms, St 
Stephen's 
Church, 
Vansittart 
Road, SL4 
5EA 

2,211 1,862 1 Change to polling district boundary. 
New polling district comprising current 
polling districts FB and MB (part). St 
Stephen's School Rooms is the current 
polling place for FB. It is proposed to move 
electors in MB who currently vote at the 
Guildhall to St Stephen's School Rooms as 
the Guildhall's access and facilities do not 
render it suitable as a polling station.  

Eton WEC3 Eton Town 
Council 
Office, 102 
High Street, 

1,229 1,089 1 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 

38



Appendix 1 – Polling District & Polling Places Schedule 2019 
Ward Polling 

District  
 Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
Place  

Overall 
Electorate 

(September 
2018) 

Polling 
Station 

Electorate 
(September 

2018) 

No. Polling 
Stations 

required at 
Polling 
Place 

Recommendations of the Acting 
Returning Officer  

Eton, SL4 
6AJ 

years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

Eton Wick WEC4 Eton Wick 
Youth 
Centre, Eton 
Wick Road, 
Eton Wick, 
SL4 6LT 

1,826 1,655 1 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

Old Windsor 

Great Park WOW1 The York 
Club, 
Windsor 
Great Park, 
SL4 2HT 

235 211 1 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

Old Windsor WOW2 Old Windsor 
Memorial 
Hall, Straight 
Road, Old 
Windsor, 
SL4 2RN 

3,706 3,210 2 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

Home Park WOW3 Old Windsor 
Memorial 
Hall, Straight 
Road, Old 
Windsor, 
SL4 2RN 

89 73 1 Change to polling district boundary and 
polling district place. It is proposed to 
create WOW3 as its own polling district as 
this area will become an unparished part of 
Old Windsor ward as a result of the ward 
boundary changes. The Old Windsor 
Memorial Hall is nearer than another 
alternative venue in central Windsor.  

39



Appendix 1 – Polling District & Polling Places Schedule 2019 
Ward Polling 

District  
 Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
Place  

Overall 
Electorate 

(September 
2018) 

Polling 
Station 

Electorate 
(September 

2018) 

No. Polling 
Stations 

required at 
Polling 
Place 

Recommendations of the Acting 
Returning Officer  

Boltons WOW4 Gardener's 
Hall, 213 St. 
Leonard's 
Road, SL4 
3DR 

1,570 1,344 1 Change to polling district boundary and 
polling place, moving from the Territorial 
Army Centre. 

Sunningdale 
& 

Cheapside 

Cheapside WSC1 Cheapside 
Village Hall, 
Cheapside 
Road, Ascot, 
SL5 7QH 

670 592 1 Change to polling district boundary. It is 
proposed to expand the current polling 
district boundary to include Heathfield 
Avenue and Larch Avenue so that the 
polling district is coterminous with the new 
parish ward boundary and Borough ward 
boundary changes.   

Sunningdale 
North 

WSC2 Sunningdale 
Village Hall, 
Church 
Road, 
Sunningdale, 
SL5 0NJ 

2,411 1,982 2 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

Sunningdale 
South 

WSC3 Mobile unit 
at Waitrose 
carpark, 
London 
Road, 
Sunningdale, 
SL5 0HD 

1,602 1,295 1 No change. An established polling district 
boundary and polling place which have 
been used successfully for a number of 
years with no adverse comments received 
from electors. 

 

40



 

Report Title:     Appointment of Managing Director and 
Head of Paid Service 

 

Contains Confidential or 
Exempt Information? 

No - Part I 

Member reporting:  Cllr Targowska, Lead Member for HR, 
Legal and IT 

Meeting and Date:  Full Council 28 January 2019 

Responsible Officer(s):  Nikki Craig, Head of HR  and Corporate 
Projects 

Wards affected:   All 

 

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

 RECOMMENDATION: That Council notes the report and approves the 
recommendation from Employment and Member Standards Panel that: 

 
i) Duncan Sharkey be appointed to the permanent position of 

Managing Director and Head of Paid Service. 
 

ii) The appointment to commence from February 2019. 
 

iii) The appointment at a salary of £149,000 per annum, within the 
Managing Director salary band of £122,400 - £149,083. 

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

2.1 The Council must appoint a Head of Paid Service in accordance with the Local 
Government Act and the Council’s Constitution. At the meeting of Employment 
and Member Standards Panel on 13 August 2018 it was agreed that external 
recruitment consultants would be engaged to carry out an executive search 
and test potential candidates.  Subsequently Solace were appointed to 
undertake this exercise.  
 

2.2 The post was advertised nationally and between this source and the executive 
search, 39 applications were submitted.  11 applicants were long listed for 
assessment by a technical assessor although one withdrew at this stage in the 
process due to securing an alternative role.  This assessment involved an 
extensive interview by an experienced former Chief Executive of a London 
Borough and a Solace representative, based around a number of key themes. 
 

2.3 Thereafter five candidates were shortlisted and invited to an assessment day 
on Monday 17 December 2018, although one withdrew at this stage with four 
candidates taking part in the following activities: 
 

REPORT SUMMARY 
 

The report requests approval to appoint Duncan Sharkey as the Council’s 
permanent Managing Director and Head of Paid Service. 
 

41

Agenda Item 6



 Online Psychometric tests  

 External Stakeholders Panel  

 Written Briefing Exercise  

 One to one meeting with the Leader and Deputy Leader  

 Watson Glaser Critical Thinking Exercise  
 

2.4 Following the outcome of the assessment day, two candidates participated in 
a formal panel selection interview on Tuesday 18 December 2018.  The panel 
comprised Councillor Dudley, Councillor Bicknell, Councillor Targowska (Chair 
of Employment and Member Standards Panel), Councillor Coppinger, 
Councillor Carroll, Councillor N Airey with Nikki Craig, Head of HR and 
Corporate Projects and Terry McDougall from Solace. 
 

2.5 The recommendation of the panel was to appoint Duncan Sharkey.  This was 
subsequently considered by Employment and Member Standards Panel on 20 
December 2018 who confirmed support for the appointment and therefore now 
make this recommendation to Council for approval.  Duncan’s appointment will 
be on a salary of £149,000 per annum which is within the Managing Director 
pay band.  Existing agreed acting up arrangements will continue until Duncan 
starts in the positon.  
 

2.6 Part 8B paragraph 3b of the Council’s constitution confirms that ‘The full 
Council may only make or approve the appointment of the Head of Paid 
Service where no substantial and justified objection has been made to the 
appointment by any Member of the Cabinet’.  Cabinet have been informed of 
the recommendation from Employment and Member Standards Panel to 
appoint Duncan Sharkey and no such objections have been received.   
 
Options: 

 Table 1: Options arising from this report 

Option Comments 

Support the recommendation of the 
Employment and Member 
Standards Panel to appoint Duncan 
Sharkey as Managing Director and 
Head of Paid Service. 
 
This is the recommended option 

Approves the recommendation of 
Employment and Member 
Standards Panel. 

Do not support the recommendation 
of the Employment and Member 
Standards Panel to appoint Duncan 
Sharkey as Managing Director and 
Head of Paid Service. 
 
This is not recommended 
 

Would delay the appointment of a 
new permanent Managing Director 
with the potential of further 
recruitment costs being incurred.  
Detrimental impact on the reputation 
of the council and breach of faith 
with the successful applicant.  

42



3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

Table 2: Key Implications 

Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 
Exceeded 

Date of 
delivery 

Appointment 
to the post 
of Managing 
Director and 
Head of 
Paid Service 

Vacancy 
not filled 

Vacancy 
filled 

n/a n/a February 
2019 

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY 

4.1 The post costs are accounted for in the approved revenue budget.  
 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 Section 4 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 provides that it is 
the duty of every local authority to designate one of their officers as its Head of 
Paid Service. 
 

5.2 The Council is required to ensure that its recruitment and selection practices 
are compliant with equal opportunities legislation and our own policies.  In 
accordance with Section 7 of the Local Authority & Housing Act 1989, all local 
authority staff must be appointed on merit. 

 
6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

Table 3: Impact of risk and mitigation 

Risks Uncontrolled 
risk 

Controls Controlled 
risk 

Appointing 
outside of the 
Pay Band 

May lead to 
equal pay 
issues.  LOW 

Maintain appointment 
within assessed salary 
band. 

Equal pay 
issues 
minimised.  
LOW 

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1 This appointment will ensure that the council continues to fulfil its statutory 
responsibilities and delivers against strategic objectives. 
 

8. CONSULTATION 

8.1 The summary views of Councillors, senior managers and all those involved in 
the recruitment process have been considered by the Employment and 
Member Standards Panel.  
 

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

9.1 Duncan will start in the position in February 2019.  
 

43



10. APPENDICES  

None 
 

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

11.1 None. 

12. CONSULTATION (MANDATORY)  

Name of 
consultee  

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned  

Cllr Dudley Leader of the Council 16/01/19 17/01/19 

Cllr Targowska Lead Member for HR, Legal 
and IT 

16/01/19 17/01/19 

Rob Stubbs Section 151 Officer 16/01/19 17/01/19 

Louisa Dean Communications 16/01/19 16/01/19 

Elaine Browne Interim Head of Law and 
Governance 

16/01/19 18/01/19 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type:  
Non-key decision  
 

Urgency item? 
No  
 

To Follow item? 
No 

Report Author: Nikki Craig, Head of HR and Corporate Projects 

 
 

 

44



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                     

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1.  DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

 RECOMMENDATION: That Full Council notes the report and endorses the 
recommendation from the Licensing Panel that the RBWM Gambling Act 
2005 Statement of Principles 2019 – 2022 be approved for immediate 
implementation. 

 
2. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

 
2.1 The Gambling Act 2005 requires that licensing authorities produce and publish 

a Statement of Principles. This policy is required to be reviewed and 
republished every three years and that time has now arrived.   

 
2.2 The Statement is required to demonstrate how the licensing authority will 

implement the three licensing objectives under the Gambling Act 2005 which 
are; 

  Preventing gambling being a source of, or associated with, crime and disorder 

  Ensuring gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 

  Protecting children and other vulnerable people from being harmed or 
   exploited by gambling. 

 
2.3 The 2015 – 2018 RBWM Statement of Principles has been reviewed and 

updated. No major changes were required but the updated Statement is clearer 
and easier to use and understand. The changes made are set out in Appendix 

Report Title:     Review and Republishing of RBWM’s  
Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles  
 

Contains Confidential 
or Exempt 
Information? 

No – Part I 

Member Reporting:  Councillor M. Airey, Lead Member for 
Environmental Services (including parking, 
flooding, housing and performance 
management) 

Meeting and Date:  Extraordinary Full Council 28 January 2019 

Responsible Officer(s):  Andy Jeffs, Executive Director 
David Scott, Head of Communities, Enforcement 
and Partnerships  

Wards Affected: All 

REPORT SUMMARY 
1. RBWM is a “licensing authority” under the Gambling Act 2005. Such 

authorities are required to publish a Statement of Principles every three 
years. The current Statement is about to expire and a new RBWM Gambling 
Act Statement Principles 2019 – 2022 has been produced. 

2. This report presents the RBWM Gambling Act Statement Principles 2019 – 
2022 for endorsement by Full Council following agreement at the Licensing 
Panel held 8 January 2019 to recommend approval. 

45

Agenda Item 7



A and the new RBWM Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 2019 – 2022 
is found at Appendix B. 

 
2.4 On 8 January 2019 the RBWM Licensing Panel unanimously endorsed the new 

Statement of Principles, subject to one textual amendment which has been 
made, and recommended it to Full Council. 

 
2.5 The RBWM Constitution specifically requires that this policy is endorsed and 

adopted by Full Council – see Part 2 THE FULL COUNCIL,  A - Council Terms 
of Reference, 1.1 Functions of Full Council, 1 (d) Licensing Authority Policy 
Statement under the Gambling Act 2005). 

 
 

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 
3.1 See Legal Implications, below.  

 
 

4.    FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY 
4.1  None arising from the adoption of these refreshed Statement of Principles. 
 
 
5.    LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
5.1 By endorsing the new Statement of Principles, Full Council will ensure that 

RBWM is complying with its statutory duty under section 349 of the Gambling 
Act 2005 for licensing authorities to review and republish their Statement of 
Principles every three years. The current RBWM 2015 – 2018 will expire and be 
replaced by this new 2019 – 2022 policy. 

 
 
6.    RISK MANAGEMENT  
6.1 Theoretically any policy is open to legal challenge. However, this Statement of 

Principles has been consulted on by all relevant parties, including the Gambling 
Commission, and so no challenge is anticipated. 

 
 
7.    POTENTIAL IMPACTS  
7.1  No EQIA is anticipated at this stage. 
 
 
8.   CONSULTATION 
8.1 There is a requirement that licensing authorities consult with the public and 

interested parties when reviewing and republishing its Gambling Act 2005 
Statement Principles. That consultation has taken place by means of a notice 
published in local newspapers and direct consultation with the following bodies; 
• The Gambling Commission  
• Thames Valley Police  
• East Berkshire Fire and Rescue Service  
• The Planning Authority (RBWM)  
• Environmental Protection (RBWM)  
• Local Safeguarding Children (LSCB)  
• HM Revenue and Customs  
• Public Health 

 

46



8.2 There have been no responses to this consultation. 
 
 
9.    TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 
9.1 If Full Council agrees to endorse the RBWM Gambling Act Statement 

Principles 2019 – 2022 it will come into force on 31 January 2019  
 
 
10.   APPENDICES  
 Appendix A – Changes from the Statement of Principles 2015 – 2018 

      Appendix B – RBWM Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 2019 – 2022 
 
 
11.  BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

Report to Licensing Panel 8 January 2019. 
 
 

12.  CONSULTATION (MANDATORY)  
 

Name of consultee  Post held Date sent Commente
d & 
returned  

Cllr Airey Lead Member for Environmental 
Services (including parking, 
flooding, housing and 
performance management) 

11/01/2019 
 

 

Russell O'Keefe  Acting Managing Director 
 
 

11/01/2019  

Andy Jeffs Executive Director 
Communities Directorate 
 

11/01/2019 14/01/19 

David Scott Head of Communities, 
Enforcement and Partnerships 
 

11/01/2019 14/01/19 

Hilary Hall 
 

Deputy Director Strategy and 
Commissioning  
 

14/01/19 14/01/19 

Kevin McDaniel 
 

Director of Children's Services  
 
 

14/01/19 14/01/19 

Nikki Craig 
 

Head of HR and Corporate 
Projects  
 

14/01/19 15/01/19 

Rob Stubbs 
 

Deputy Director and Head of 
Finance  
 

14/01/19  

Angela Morris 
 

Deputy Director Health and 
Adult Social Care  
 

14/01/19  

Elaine Brown 
 

Head of Law & Governance 
 

14/01/19  

47



 
REPORT HISTORY  

 

Decision type:  
Non-key decision  
 

Urgency item? 
No  
 

To Follow item? 
No 

Report Author: Greg Nelson, Trading Standards & Licensing Lead         
                         01628 683561 
 

 

 

 

 

48



Appendix A 

Changes from the Statement of Principles 2015 – 2018 

 

 Change of layout, headings and subheadings  

 A table of contents was added  

 A paragraph was added under the heading “Introduction” 

 The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead heading was added  

 Borough map and a table with current licences/permits added under the 

heading “The RBWM” 

 Consultees heading was added  

 An explanation of the consultation and contact details were added under the 

heading “Consultees” 

 A paragraph and bullet points were added under the heading “Declaration” 

 Public Health was added under the heading “Responsible Authorities” 

 Data Protection Act 2018 was added under the heading “Exchange of 

Information” 

 A paragraph was added under the heading “Exchange of Information” 

 “General Principles” heading was added  

 A paragraph and bullet points were added under the heading “Premises 

Licence” 

 A paragraph and bullet points were added under the heading “Applications” 

 “Plans of Premises” heading was added  

 “Notice of the Application” heading was added  

 “Representations” heading was added  

 “Local Risk Assessment” heading was added  

 “Local Area Profile” heading was added  

 “Vulnerable Persons” heading was added  

 A paragraph was added under the heading  “Applications and Plans” 

 A note was added under the heading “Travelling Fairs” 

 A note was added under the heading “Unlicensed Family Entertainment 

Centre gaming machine permits”  

 

49



 

Appendix B  

RBWM Gambling Act Statement Principles 2019 – 2022 

 

See Attached Document 

50



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead 
 

Gambling Act 2005 
 

Statement of Principles 
2019 - 2022 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

51



 

 2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“Building a borough for everyone – where residents and 
businesses grow, with opportunities for all” 

 
Our vision is underpinned by six priorities: 

Healthy, skilled and independent residents 
Growing economy, affordable housing 

Safe and vibrant communities 
Attractive and well-connected borough 

An excellent customer experience 
Well-managed resources delivering value for money 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

52



 

 3 

CONTENTS 

  
           
1. General            

1.1. Introduction         5 
1.2. The Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead     5 
1.3. The Licensing Objectives       6 
1.4. Declaration.         6  
1.5. Responsible Authorities       7 
1.6. Interested Parties        7 
1.7. Exchange of Information        8 
1.8. General Principles        9 
1.9. Enforcement         9 
1.10. Licensing Authority Functions       10 

  
 
2. Premises Licence          

2.1. Premises Licence        11  
2.2. Application          11 

2.2.3  Plans of the Premises       11 
2.2.4  Notice of the Application      12 
2.2.5  Representation        12  
2.2.6  Local Risk Assessment      13 

2.3. Local Area Profile        13 
2.4. Decision-Making        13 
2.5. Meaning of Premises        14 
2.6. Duplication with other regulatory regimes     17 
2.7. Licensing Objectives        17 

2.7.2  Prevention of Crime and Disorder     17 
2.7.3  Ensuring Gambling is conducted in a fair and open way  18  
2.7.4  Protecting Children and Vulnerable Persons   18 

 2.7.4.1  Vulnerable Persons      18 
2.8. Conditions         19 
2.9. Door Supervisors        20 
2.10. Adult Gaming Centres        20 
2.11. (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres     20 
2.12. Casinos          21  
2.13. Bingo Premises         22 
2.14. Betting Premises        22 
2.15. Tracks          22 
2.16. Applications and Plans        23 
2.17. Travelling Fairs         23 
2.18. Provisional Statements        24 
2.19. Reviews          25 

 
 

3. Permits/Temporary and Occasional Use Notice 
3.1. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre     27 
3.2. (Alcohol) Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits   28 

53



 

 4 

3.3. Permits for 3 or more machines      28 
3.4. Prize Gaming Permits        29 
3.5. Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits     29 
3.6. Temporary Use Notices       30 
3.7. Occasional Use Notice        31 

 
 

4. Further Information         
Annex 2           36  
   

    
 
         

Frequently used acronyms 

RBWM  Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead 
   

 

 

54



 

 5 

1. General  
 

1.1. Introduction 
 
1.1.1. Under Section 349 of the Gambling Act licensing authorities are required to publish a 

statement of the principles which they propose to apply when exercising their functions.   
 
1.1.2. The statement must be published at least every three years and this statement will 

come into effect on 31st January 2019 and continue until 30th January 2022.  The 
statement must also be reviewed from “time to time” and any amended parts re-
consulted upon.  The statement must be then re-published before any revision is given 
effect. 

 
1.1.3. It is important to note that this statement of principles will not override the right of any 

person to make an application, make representation about an application, or apply for a 
review of a licence, as each application will be considered on its own merit and 
according to the statutory requirements of the Gambling Act 2005. 

 
1.2. The Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 
 
1.2.1. The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead (RBWM) is a Royal of Berkshire, in 

South East England (Figure 1). It is a unitary authority and home to Windsor Castle, 
Eton College, LEGOLAND Windsor, Windsor and Ascot Racecourses. Its estimates a 
population of 150,100 covering 76 square miles. 
 
Figure 1: Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 

 
55



 

 6 

 
1.2.2. The current number of licences issued in the borough is 208. The breakdown is as 

follows:  
 

Type of Licence/Permit Total number per category 

Adult Gaming Centre Premises Licence 1 

Betting Premises Licence (track) 2 

Betting Premises Licence (No track) 20 

Club Machine Permit 9 

Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine 
Permit 

3 

Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permit 13 

Notification of Gaming Machines 79 

Small Society Lotteries 81 

Total   208 

 
1.3. The Licensing Objectives 
 
1.3.1. In exercising most of their functions under the Gambling Act 2005, licensing authorities 

must have regard to the licensing objectives as set out in Section 1 of the Act.  The 
licensing objectives are: 

 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated 
with crime or disorder or being used to support crime 

 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 

 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling 

 
1.3.2. It should be noted that the Gambling Commission has stated: “The requirement in 

relation to children is explicitly to protect them from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling”.   

 
1.3.3. This licensing authority is aware that, as per Section 153, in making decisions about 

premises licences and temporary use notices it should aim to permit the use of 
premises for gambling in so far as it thinks it: 

 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission 

 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission  

 Reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and 

 in accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing policy 
 

1.4. Declaration 
 
1.4.1. In preparing this Statement of Principles the Licensing Authority is required to:  

 Adhere to regulations issued by the Secretary of State under Section 349 (4) of The 
Act 

 Have regard to guidance issued to local authorities by the Gambling Commission 
Section 25 (2) of the Act 

 Recognise the need to be consistent with the licensing objectives where applicable.  
 

56



 

 7 

1.4.2. In producing the final statement, this licensing authority declares that it has had regard 
to the licensing objectives of the Gambling Act 2005, the Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities issued by the Gambling Commission, and any responses from those 
consulted on the statement. 

 
1.5. Responsible Authorities 
 
1.5.1. The licensing authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply in 

exercising its powers under Sector 157(h) of the Act to designate, in writing, a body 
which is competent to advise the authority about the protection of children from harm. 
The principles are:  

 The need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole of the 
licensing authority’s area and; 

 The need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected persons, rather 
than any particular vested interest group 

 
1.5.2. In accordance with the suggestion in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 

Licensing Authorities, this authority designates the Local Safeguarding Children Board 
for this purpose. 

 
1.5.3. For the purpose of this Act, the following are responsible authorities in relation to 

premises:  

 The Licensing Authority  

 The Gambling Commission  

 Thames Valley Police 

 Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue Service 

 The Planning Authority (RBWM) 

 Environmental Protection (RBWM) 

 Local Safeguarding Children (LSCB) 

 HM Revenue and Customs 

 Public Health (As suggested on the Statement of Gambling Licensing Policy – A 
Councillor’s Guide)  

 
1.5.4. You can access the contact details of all the Responsible Authorities at 

https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/file/117/list_of_responsible_authorities  
 
1.6. Interested parties 
 
1.6.1. Interested parties can make representations about licence applications, or apply for a 

review of an existing licence. These parties are defined in Section 158 of the Gambling 
Act 2005 as follows: 

 
“For the purposes of this Part a person is an interested party in relation to an application 
for or in respect of a premises licence if, in the opinion of the licensing authority which 
issues the licence or to which the applications is made, the person:  
a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised 

activities, 
b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities, or 
c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b)” 

57

https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/file/117/list_of_responsible_authorities


 

 8 

 
1.6.2. The licensing authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply in 

exercising its powers under the Gambling Act 2005 to determine whether a person is an 
interested party.  The principles are:   

 
1.6.2.1. Each case will be decided upon its merits.  This authority will not apply a rigid 

rule to its decision making.  It will consider the examples of considerations 
provided in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities at 
8.9 to 8.17.  It will also consider the Gambling Commission's Guidance that 
"has business interests" should be given the widest possible interpretation and 
include partnerships, charities, faith groups and medical practices. 

 
1.6.2.2. Interested parties can be persons who are democratically elected such as 

councillors and MP’s.  No specific evidence of being asked to represent an 
interested person will be required as long as the councillor / MP represents the 
ward likely to be affected.  Likewise, parish councils likely to be affected will be 
considered to be interested parties.  Other than these however, this authority 
will generally require written evidence that a person/body (e.g. an advocate / 
relative) ‘represents’ someone who either lives sufficiently close to the 
premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised activities and/or has 
business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities.  A letter 
from one of these persons, requesting the representation is sufficient. 

 
1.6.3. If individuals wish to approach councillors to ask them to represent their views then care 

should be taken that the councillors are not part of the Licensing Panel dealing with the 
licence application.  If there are any doubts then please contact the licensing team, 
Town Hall, St Ives Road, Maidenhead, SL6 1RF or by email: licensing@rbwm.gov.uk. 

 
1.7. Exchange of Information 

 
1.7.1. Licensing authorities are required to include in their statements the principles to be 

applied by the authority in exercising the functions under Sections 29 and 30 of the Act 
with respect to the exchange of information between it and the Gambling Commission, 
and the functions under Section 350 of the Act with the respect to the exchange of 
information between it and the other persons listed in Schedule 6 to the Act. 

 
1.7.2. The principle that this licensing authority applies is that it will act in accordance with the 

provisions of the Gambling Act 2005 in its exchange of information which includes the 
provision that the Data Protection Act 2018 will not be contravened.  The licensing 
authority will also have regard to any Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission on 
this matter, as well as any relevant regulations issued by the Secretary of State under 
the powers provided in the Gambling Act 2005. 

 
1.7.3. Full details of those persons making representations will be made available to 

applicants, in the event of a public hearing being held and will form part of a public 
document and it will be published on the RBWM website. Anyone making 
representations or applying for a review of a premises licence will be informed that their 
full details will be disclosed.  

 

58

mailto:licensing@rbwm.gov.uk


 

 9 

1.8. General Principles 
 
1.8.1. This “Statement of Principles” set out the principles that the licensing authority will apply 

when making decisions upon applications or notifications made for:  

 Premises Licences 

 Temporary Use Notices 

 Occasional Use Notices 

 Permits as required under the Gambling Act 2005 

 Registrations as required under the Gambling Act 2005 
 
1.8.2. Nothing in this Statement of Principles will:  

 Undermine the rights of any person to apply under the Gambling Act 2005 for a 
variety of permissions and have the application considered on its individual merits; 
or  

 Override the right of any person to make a representation on any application or 
seek a review of a licence or permit where they are permitted to do so under the 
Gambling Act 2005 

 
1.8.3. Each application will be treated on its own merit.  
 
1.9. Enforcement  
 
1.9.1. Licensing authorities are required by regulation under the Gambling Act 2005 to state 

the principles to be applied by the authority in exercising the functions under Part 15 of 
the Act with respect to the inspection of premises; and the powers under Section 346 of 
the Act to institute criminal proceedings in respect of the offences specified. 

 
1.9.2. This licensing authority’s principles are that: 

It will be guided by the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities and 
will endeavour to be: 

 Proportionate: regulators should only intervene when necessary:  remedies should 
be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified and minimised; 

 Accountable:  regulators must be able to justify decisions, and be subject to public 
scrutiny; 

 Consistent:  rules and standards must be joined up and implemented fairly; 

 Transparent:  regulators should be open, and keep regulations simple and user 
friendly; and 

 Targeted:  regulation should be focused on the problem, and minimise side effects.  
 

1.9.3. As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities this licensing 
authority will endeavour to avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes so far as 
possible.   

 
1.9.4. This licensing authority has adopted and implemented a risk-based inspection 

programme, based on; 

 The licensing objectives 

 Relevant codes of practice 

 Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, in particular at Part 36 

 The principles set out in this statement of licensing policy 

59



 

 10 

 
1.9.5. The main enforcement and compliance role for this licensing authority in terms of the 

Gambling Act 2005 is to ensure compliance with the premises licences and other 
permissions which it authorises.   

 
1.9.6. The Gambling Commission is the enforcement body for the operating and personal 

licences.  It is also worth noting that concerns about manufacture, supply or repair of 
gaming machines are not dealt with by the licensing authority but should be notified to 
the Gambling Commission.   

 
1.9.7. This licensing authority also keeps itself informed of developments as regards the work 

of the Better Regulation Executive in its consideration of the regulatory functions of local 
authorities. 

 
1.9.8. Where the Licensing Authority seeks to bring a prosecution, it will have regard to the 

principle of the Crown Prosecution Service Code for Crown Prosecutors.  
 
1.9.9.   The Licencing Authority will seek to work actively with the Gambling Commission and 

the Thames Valley Police in enforcing licensing legislation.  
 
1.10. Licensing Authority Functions  
  
1.10.1. Licensing authorities are required under the Act to: 

 Be responsible for the licensing of premises where gambling activities are to take 
place by issuing Premises Licences  

 Issue Provisional Statements  

 Regulate members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes who wish to undertake 
certain gaming activities via issuing Club Gaming Permits and/or Club Machine 
Permits  

 Issue Club Machine Permits to Commercial Clubs  

 Grant permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at unlicensed 
Family Entertainment Centres  

 Receive notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the Licensing Act 2003) 
for the use of two or fewer gaming machines  

 Issue Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits for premises licensed to 
sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the licensed premises, under the Licensing 
Act 2003, where there are more than two machines  

 Register small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds  

 Issue Prize Gaming Permits  

 Receive and Endorse Temporary Use Notices  

 Receive Occasional Use Notices  

 Provide information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of licences 
issued (see section above on ‘information exchange) 

 Maintain registers of the permits and licences that are issued under these functions 
 
1.10.2. It should be noted that licensing authorities are not be involved in licensing remote 

gambling, which is regulated by the Gambling Commission via operating licences. 
 

60



 

 11 

2. Premises Licence 
 

2.1. Premises Licence  
 
2.1.1. A premises licence can authorise the provision of facilities at the following:  

 Casino premises 

 Bingo premises 

 Betting premises including on course track betting 

 Adult gaming centres (AGC) premises (for category B3, B4, C and D machines) 

 Family entertainment centres (FEC) premises (for category C and D machines) 
 

2.1.2. Premises licences will be subjected to the requirements set-out in the Gambling Act 
2005 and regulations, as well as specific mandatory and default conditions which are 
detailed in regulations issued by the Secretary of State.  The Council can exclude 
default conditions and also attach others, where it is believed to be appropriate. 

 
2.2. Application  
 
2.2.1. An application for premises can only be made by a person (which includes companies 

or partnership):  
 

 Who are aged 18 or over and  

 Who have the right to occupy the premises and  

 Who have an operating licence which allows them to carry out the proposed activity 
or  

 Who have applied for an operating licence to allow them to carry out the proposed 
activity. It is important noting that the premises licence cannot be determined until 
an operation licence has been issued.  

 
2.2.2. The exception to this is an applicant for a premises licence to allow a track to be used 

for betting, as these applicants are not required to hold an operating licence if they are 
merely providing space for other people betting (and where other persons hold a valid 
betting operating licence).  

 
2.2.3. Plans of the Premises 
 

2.2.3.1. All new premises licence and variation applications, must include a plan of the 
premises. The plan will become part of the premises licence and the authority 
expects the plans to be available for inspection by an authorised Licensing 
Enforcement officers at the premises.  

 
2.2.3.2. Under the Gambling Act 2005 (Premises Licences and Provisional 

Statements) Regulation 2007 (amended) the plan of the premises must show:   

 The extent of the boundary or perimeter of the premises 

 Where the premises include, or consist of, one or more buildings, the 
location of any external or internal walls of each such buildings 

 Where the premises form a part of the building, the location of any external 
or internal walls of the building which are included in the premises 

 Where the premises are a vessel or a part of a vessel, the location of any 

61



 

 12 

part of the sides of the vessel, and of any internal walls of the vessel, which 
are included in the premises 

 The location of each point of entry to and exit from the premises, including 
in each case a description of the place from which entry is made or to which 
the exit leads 

 
2.2.3.3. If there are major changes to the layout of a premises a variation must be 

made and new plans submitted. If there are minor changes to the layout the 
licence holder should contact the Licensing Authority for advice.  

 
2.2.3.4. It is important to note that a plan has a number of requirements and these 

requirements depend on the type of licence or permit application. Please visit 
our website and download our RBWM Guidance Notes relating to 
arrangements for Premises under the Act to ascertain the plan requirements 
for the type of application being applied for. 

 
2.2.4. Notice of the Application  
 

2.2.4.1. Under The Secretary of States regulations, applicants are required to publish a 
notice of their application and to notify responsible authorities and other 
persons about the application. These also apply, with one or two 
modifications, in relation to applications for provisional statements and some 
ancillary applications that can be made in relation to a premises licence.  

 
2.2.4.2. Notice must be given in three ways:  

 A notice must be placed outside the premises for 28 days consecutively in a 
place where it can be read conveniently 

 In a newspaper of highest circulation within the Royal Borough of Windsor 
and Maidenhead, on at least one occasion within 10 (ten) working days of 
the application being served 

 To all responsible authorities, which includes the Gambling Commission, 
within 7(seven) days of the application being served 

 
2.2.4.3. An officer will be visiting the premises to verify the notice, if the notice is not 

placed or the public notice is not published within the framework days then the 
Licensing Authority will reject the application.   

 
2.2.5. Representation  
 

2.2.5.1. Licensing Authorities are obliged to consider representations from two 
categories of person, referred to in the Gambling Act 2005 as “responsible 
authorities” and “interested parties”. Representation from other parties are 
inadmissible.  

 
2.2.5.2. The licensing authority will consider the relevance of any representation 

received. It must be related to one or more of the Licensing Objectives or to 
issues raised under the Licensing Authority’s Statement of Policy, or the 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance or Code of Practice.  

 

62



 

 13 

2.2.5.3. Also, the licensing authority will need to consider if representations are 
“frivolous” or “vexatious”.  

 
2.2.5.4. Anyone that wishes to make a representation to an application must do so in 

writing to The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead, Licensing Team, 
Town Hall, St Ives Road, Maidenhead, SL6 1RF or by email: 
licensing@rbwm.gov.uk. 

 
2.2.6. Local Risk Assessment 

 
2.2.6.1. It is a requirement of the Gambling Commission’s Licence Conditions and 

Codes of Practice (LCCP) for licensees to assess the local risk to the licensing 
objectives posed by the provisions of gambling facilities at each of their 
premises, and have policies, procedures and control measures to mitigate 
those risks. In undertaking their local risk assessments, they must take into 
account relevant matters identified in this statement of principles.  

 
2.2.6.2. The LCCP states that licensees must undertake a local risk assessment when 

applying for a new premises licence. Their risk assessment must also be 
updated:  

 When applying for a variation of a premises licence 

 To take account of significant changes in local circumstances 

 When there are significant changes at a licensed premises that may affect 
their mitigation of local risks 

 
2.3. Local Area Profile 
 
2.3.1. It is not a mandatory requirement for licensing authorities to complete their own 

assessment of the local environment known as the Local Area Profile. In cases where 
authorities feel that this is necessary then this will be produced as a separate document 
to the Statement of Principles and will be circulated to all licensed premises and 
available on the local authority website.  

 
2.4. Decision-making 

 
2.4.1. This licensing authority is aware that in making decisions about premises licences it 

should aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks fit: 

 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission; 

 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission; 

 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and 

 in accordance with this Statement of Principles 
 
2.4.2. It is appreciated that as per the Gambling Commission's Guidance to Licensing 

Authorities "moral objections to gambling are not a valid reason to reject applications for 
premises licences" (except as regards any 'no casino resolution' - see section on 
Casinos - page 12) and also that unmet demand is not a criterion for a licensing 
authority. 

 

63

mailto:licensing@rbwm.gov.uk


 

 14 

2.5. Meaning of “Premises”  
 
2.5.1. In the Act, "premises" is defined as including "any place".  Section 152 therefore 

prevents more than one premises licence applying to any place.  But a single building 
could be subject to more than one premises licence, provided they are for different parts 
of the building and the different parts of the building can be reasonably regarded as 
being different premises. This approach has been taken to allow large, multiple unit 
premises such as a pleasure park, pier, track or shopping mall to obtain discrete 
premises licences, where appropriate safeguards are in place.  However, the Council 
will pay particular attention if there are issues about sub-divisions of a single building or 
plot and should ensure that mandatory conditions relating to access between premises 
are observed. 

 
2.5.2. The Gambling Commission states in the fifth edition of its Guidance to Licensing 

Authorities that: “In most cases the expectation is that a single building / plot will be the 
subject of an application for a licence, for example, 32 High Street.  But, that does not 
mean 32 High Street cannot be the subject of separate premises licences for the 
basement and ground floor, if they are configured acceptably.  Whether different parts 
of a building can properly be regarded as being separate premises will depend on the 
circumstances.  The location of the premises will clearly be an important consideration 
and the suitability of the division is likely to be a matter for discussion between the 
operator and the licensing authority. However, the Commission does not consider that 
areas of a building that are artificially or temporarily separated, for example by ropes or 
moveable partitions, can properly be regarded as different premises. If a premises is 
located within a wider venue, a licensing authority should request a plan of the venue 
on which the premises should be identified as a separate unit.” 

 
2.5.3. This licensing authority takes particular note of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance 

to Licensing Authorities which states that: licensing authorities should take particular 
care in considering applications for multiple licences for a building and those relating to 
a discrete part of a building used for other (non-gambling) purposes. In particular they 
should be aware of the following: 

 The third licensing objective seeks to protect children from being harmed by 
gambling. In practice that means not only preventing them from taking part in 
gambling, but also preventing them from being in close proximity to gambling. 
Therefore premises should be configured so that children are not invited to 
participate in, have accidental access to or closely observe gambling where they 
are prohibited from participating.  

 Entrances to and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more premises 
licences should be separate and identifiable so that the separation of different 
premises is not compromised and people do not “drift” into a gambling area. In this 
context it should normally be possible to access the premises without going through 
another licensed premises or premises with a permit. 

 Customers should be able to participate in the activity names on the premises 
licence.    

 
2.5.4. The Guidance also gives a list of factors which the licensing authority is aware of, which 

may include: 

 Is a separate registration for business rates in place for the premises? 

64



 

 15 

 Is the premises’ neighbouring premises owned by the same person or someone 
else? 

 Can each of the premises be accessed from the street or a public passageway? 

 Can the premises only be accessed from any other gambling premises? 
 
2.5.5. This authority will consider these and other relevant factors in making its decision, 

depending on all the circumstances of the case.  
 
2.5.6. This authority will take account of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance in Part 7 which 

details the relevant access provisions for each premises type. These include:  
 
a. Casinos (At present time, there are no casinos operating within the Royal Borough 

of Windsor and Maidenhead) 

 The principal access entrance to the premises must be from a street (as defined 
at 7.21 of the Guidance) 

 No entrance to a casino must be from premises that are used wholly or mainly by 
children and/or young persons  

 No customer must be able to enter a casino directly from any other premises 
which holds a gambling premises licence 

 
b. Adult Gaming Centre 

 No customer must be able to access the premises directly from any other 
licensed gambling premises 

 
c. Betting Shops 

 Access must be from a street (as per para 7.21 Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities) or from another premises with a betting premises licence 

 No direct access from a betting shop to another premises used for the retail sale 
of merchandise or services. In effect there cannot be an entrance to a betting 
shop from a shop of any kind unless that shop is itself a licensed betting 
premises 

 
d. Tracks 

 No customer should be able to access the premises directly from: 
- a casino 
- an adult gaming centre 

 
e. Bingo Premises 

 

 No customer must be able to access the premise directly from: 
- a casino 
- an adult gaming centre 
- a betting premises, other than a track 

 
f. Family Entertainment Centre 

 

 No customer must be able to access the premises directly from: 
- a casino 
- an adult gaming centre 

65



 

 16 

- a betting premises, other than a track 
 
2.5.7. Part 7 of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to licensing authorities contains further 

guidance on this issue, which this authority will also take into account in its decision-
making. 

 
Premises “ready for gambling” 

2.5.8. The Guidance states that a licence to use premises for gambling should only be issued 
in relation to premises that the licensing authority can be satisfied are going to be ready 
to be used for gambling in the reasonably near future, consistent with the scale of 
building or alterations required before the premises are brought into use.  

 
2.5.9. If the construction of a premises is not yet complete, or if they need alteration, or if the 

applicant does not yet have a right to occupy them, then an application for a provisional 
statement should be made instead.  

 
2.5.10. In deciding whether a premises licence can be granted where there are outstanding 

construction or alteration works at a premises, this authority will determine applications 
on their merits, applying a two stage consideration process: 

 first, whether the premises ought to be permitted to be used for gambling  

 second, whether appropriate conditions can be put in place to cater for the situation 
that the premises are not yet in the state in which they ought to be before gambling 
takes place. 

 
2.5.11. Applicants should note that this authority is entitled to decide that it is appropriate to 

grant a licence subject to conditions, but it is not obliged to grant such a licence.  
 
2.5.12. More detailed examples of the circumstances in which such a licence may be granted 

can be found at paragraphs 7.58 - 7.65 of the Guidance.  
 

Location 
2.5.13. This licensing authority is aware that demand issues cannot be considered with regard 

to the location of premises but that considerations in terms of the licensing objectives 
are relevant to its decision-making.   

 
2.5.14. As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities, this authority will 

pay particular attention to the protection of children and vulnerable persons from being 
harmed or exploited by gambling, as well as issues of crime and disorder. Should any 
specific policy be decided upon as regards areas where gambling premises should not 
be located, this statement will be updated.   

 
2.5.15. It should be noted that any such policy does not preclude any application being made 

and each application will be decided on its merits, with the onus upon the applicant 
showing how potential concerns can be overcome.   

 
Planning 

2.5.16. The Gambling Commission Guidance to Licensing Authorities paragraphs 7.58 – 7.65 
states: 

 

66



 

 17 

2.5.17. In determining applications, the licensing authority should not take into consideration 
matters that are not related to gambling and the licensing objectives. One example 
would be the likelihood of the applicant obtaining planning permission or building 
regulations approval for their proposal. 

 
2.5.18. This authority will not take into account irrelevant matters as per the above guidance. In 

addition this authority notes the following excerpt from the Gambling Guidance 
paragraph 7.65:  

 
When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, the licensing 
authority should not take into account whether those buildings have to comply with the 
necessary planning or building consents. Nor should fire or health and safety risks be 
taken into account. Those matters should be dealt with under relevant planning control, 
building and other regulations, and must not form part of the consideration for the 
premises licence. S.210 of the Act prevents licensing authorities taking into account the 
likelihood of the proposal by the applicant obtaining planning or building consent when 
considering a premises licence application. Equally, the grant of a gambling premises 
licence does not prejudice or prevent any action that may be appropriate under the law 
relating to planning or building.  

 
2.6. Duplication with other regulatory regimes   
 
2.6.1. This licensing authority seeks to avoid any duplication with other statutory / regulatory 

systems where possible, including planning.  This authority will not consider whether a 
licence application is likely to be awarded planning permission or building regulations 
approval, in its consideration of it.  It will though, listen to, and consider carefully, any 
concerns about conditions which are not able to be met by licensees due to planning 
restrictions, should such a situation arise. 

 
2.6.2. When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, this authority 

will not take into account whether those buildings have to comply with the necessary 
planning or buildings consents. Fire or health and safety risks will not be taken into 
account, as these matters are dealt with under relevant planning control, buildings and 
other regulations and must not form part of the consideration for the premises licence.  

 
2.7. Licensing objectives  
 
2.7.1. Premises licences granted must be reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives.  

With regard to these objectives, this licensing authority has considered the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities and some comments are made below. 

 
2.7.2. Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated 

with crime or disorder or being used to support crime  
 

 This licensing authority is aware that the Gambling Commission takes a leading role 
in preventing gambling from being a source of crime.  The Gambling Commission's 
Guidance does however envisage that licensing authorities should pay attention to 
the proposed location of gambling premises in terms of this licensing objective.  
Thus, where an area has known high levels of organised crime this authority will 

67



 

 18 

consider carefully whether gambling premises are suitable to be located there and 
whether conditions may be suitable such as the provision of door supervisors.  This 
licensing authority is aware of the distinction between disorder and nuisance and 
will consider factors (for example whether police assistance was required and how 
threatening the behaviour was to those who could see it) so as to make that 
distinction.   

 
2.7.3. Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way   
 

 This licensing authority has noted that the Gambling Commission states that it 
generally does not expect licensing authorities to be concerned with ensuring that 
gambling is conducted in a fair and open way as this will be addressed via 
operating and personal licences. For Local Authorities with tracks: There is 
however, more of a role with regard to tracks which is explained in more detail in 
the 'tracks' section– see page 18).  

 
2.7.4. Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited 

by gambling  
 

 This licensing authority has noted the Gambling Commission's Guidance that this 
objective means preventing children from taking part in gambling (as well as 
restriction of advertising so that gambling products are not aimed at or are, 
particularly attractive to children).  The licensing authority will therefore consider, as 
suggested in the Gambling Commission's Guidance, whether specific measures are 
required at particular premises, with regard to this licensing objective.  Appropriate 
measures may include supervision of entrances, machines, segregation of areas 
etc.  

 This licensing authority is also aware of the Gambling Commission Codes of 
Practice as regards this licensing objective, in relation to specific premises.   

 
2.7.4.1. Vulnerable Persons  

 
2.7.4.2. With regards to the term “vulnerable persons” it is noted that the Gambling 

Commission does not seek to offer a definition but states that “it will be for 
regulatory purposes” to assume that this group includes: 

 people who gamble more than they want to 

 people who gamble beyond their means and  

 people who may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about 
gambling due to a mental impairment, alcohol or drugs. In relation to this, 
Licensing Authorities included people with a mental illness and people with 
a learning difficulty. The Licensing Authority will consider this licensing 
objective on a case by case basis.   

 
2.7.4.3. The licensing authority will expect that an applicant will show that there are 

policies and procedures in place to protect vulnerable persons. These may 
include:  

 a training programme for staff to enable them to identify persons who may 
be vulnerable and where appropriate to take action to protect such 
vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling 

68



 

 19 

 display Gamcare helpline stickers on all gaming machines 

 display Gamcare posters in prominent locations on the premises  
 
2.8. Conditions  
 
2.8.1. Any conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and will be: 

 relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a gambling facility; 

 directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for; 

 fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises; and 

 reasonable in all other respects.  
 
2.8.2. Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis, although 

there will be a number of measures this licensing authority will consider utilising should 
there be a perceived need, such as the use of supervisors, appropriate signage for 
adult only areas etc.  There are specific comments made in this regard under some of 
the licence types below.  This Licensing Authority will also expect the licence applicant 
to offer his/her own suggestions as to ways in which the licensing objectives can be met 
effectively. 

 
2.8.3. This licensing authority will also consider specific measures which may be required for 

buildings which are subject to multiple premises licences.  Such measures may include 
the supervision of entrances; segregation of gambling from non-gambling areas 
frequented by children; and the supervision of gaming machines in non-adult gambling 
specific premises in order to pursue the licensing objectives.  These matters are in 
accordance with the Gambling Commission's Guidance. 

 
2.8.4. This authority will also ensure that where category C or above machines are on offer in 

premises to which children are admitted: 

 all such machines are located in an area of the premises which is separated from 
the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent 
access other than through a designated entrance; 

 only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located; 

 access to the area where the machines are located is supervised; 

 the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed 
by the staff or the licence holder; and 

 at the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently displayed 
notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18. 

 
2.8.5. These considerations will apply to premises including buildings where multiple premises 

licences are applicable. 
 
2.8.6. This licensing authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more than one 

premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the track.  As per 
the Gambling Commission's Guidance, this licensing authority will consider the impact 
upon the third licensing objective and the need to ensure that entrances to each type of 
premises are distinct and that children are excluded from gambling areas where they 
are not permitted to enter. 

 
2.8.7. It is noted that there are conditions which the licensing authority cannot attach to 

69



 

 20 

premises licences which are: 

 any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible to comply with an 
operating licence condition;  

 conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of operation; 

 conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required (the 
Gambling Act 2005 specifically removes the membership requirement for casino 
and bingo clubs and this provision prevents it being reinstated; and 

 conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winning or prizes. 
 
2.9. Door Supervisors  
 
2.9.1. The Gambling Commission advises in its Guidance to Licensing Authorities that if a 

licensing authority is concerned that a premises may attract disorder or be subject to 
attempts at unauthorised access (for example by children and young persons or 
vulnerable people) then it may require that the entrances to the premises are controlled 
by a door supervisor, and is entitled to impose a premises licence to this effect.  

 
2.9.2. Where it is decided that supervision of entrances/machines is appropriate for particular 

cases the supervisor will be required to be Security Industry Authority (SIA) licenced 
unless the statutory requirements for the premises in question require otherwise (as per 
the Guidance, Part 33). 

 
2.10. Adult Gaming Centres 
 
2.10.1. This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and 

vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the 
applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to, for example, 
ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the premises.   

 
2.10.2. This licensing authority may consider measures to meet the licensing objectives such 

as: 

 proof of age schemes 

 CCTV 

 supervision of entrances / machine areas 

 physical separation of areas 

 location of entry 

 notices / signage 

 specific opening hours 

 self-exclusion schemes 

 provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare. 

 
2.10.3. This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 

measures. 
 
2.11. (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres: 

 
2.11.1. This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and 

vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the 

70



 

 21 

applicant to satisfy the authority, for example, that there will be sufficient measures to 
ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult only gaming machine 
areas.   

 
2.11.2. This licensing authority may consider measures to meet the licensing objectives such 

as: 

 CCTV 

 supervision of entrances / machine areas 

 physical separation of areas 

 location of entry 

 notices / signage 

 specific opening hours 

 self-exclusion schemes 

 provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare 

 measures/training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school children on 
the premises  

 
2.11.3. This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 

measures. 
 
2.11.4. This licensing authority will, as per the Gambling Commission’s guidance, refer to the 

Commission’s website to see any conditions that apply to operating licences covering 
the way in which the area containing the category C machines should be delineated.  
This licensing authority will also make itself aware of any mandatory or default 
conditions on these premises licences, when they have been published.   

 
2.12. Casinos 
 
2.12.1. No Casinos resolution - This licensing authority has not passed a ‘no casino’ resolution 

under Section 166 of the Gambling Act 2005, but is aware that it has the power to do 
so.   Should this licensing authority decide in the future to pass such a resolution, it will 
update this policy statement with details of that resolution.  Any such decision will be 
made by the Full Council.   

 
2.12.2. Licence considerations / conditions – This licensing authority will attach conditions to 

casino premises licences according to the principles set out in the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance at paragraph 9, bearing in mind the mandatory conditions 
listed in paragraph 17 of the Guidance, and the Licence Conditions and Codes of 
Practice published by the Gambling Commission.  

 
2.12.3. Betting machines - This licensing authority will, as per the Gambling Commission's 

Guidance, take into account the size of the premises, the number of counter positions 
available for person-to-person transactions, and the ability of staff to monitor the use of 
the machines by children and young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) 
or by vulnerable people, when considering the number/nature/circumstances of betting 
machines an operator wants to offer. 

 
 

71



 

 22 

2.13. Bingo premises 
 

2.13.1. This licensing authority notes that the Gambling Commission’s Guidance paragraph 
18.5 states: 

 
Licensing authorities need to satisfy themselves that bingo can be played in any bingo 
premises for which they issue a premises licence. An operator may choose to vary their 
licence to exclude a previously licensed area of that premises, and then apply for a new 
premises licence, or multiple new premises licences, with the aim of creating separate 
premises in that area. Essentially providing multiple licensed premises within a single 
building or site. Before issuing additional bingo premises licences, licensing authorities 
need to consider whether bingo can be played at each of those new premises. 

 
2.13.2. This authority also notes the Guidance at paragraph 18.5 regarding the unusual 

circumstances in which the splitting of a pre-existing premises into two adjacent 
premises might be permitted, and in particular that it is not permissible to locate eight 
category B3 gaming machines in one of the resulting premises, as the gaming machine 
entitlement for that premises would be exceeded. 

 
2.13.3. Guidance at paragraph 18.7 Children and young people are allowed into bingo 

premises; however they are not permitted to participate in the bingo and if category B or 
C machines are made available for use these must be separated from areas where 
children and young people are allowed. Social Responsibility (SR) code 3.2.5(3) states 
that ‘licensees must ensure that their policies and procedures take account of the 
structure and layout of their gambling premises’ in order to prevent underage gambling. 

 
2.14. Betting premises 

 
2.14.1. Betting machines - This licensing authority will, as per the Gambling Commission's 

Guidance, take into account the size of the premises, the number of counter positions 
available for person-to-person transactions, and the ability of staff to monitor the use of 
the machines by children and young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) 
or by vulnerable people, when considering the number/nature/circumstances of betting 
machines an operator wants to offer. 

 
2.15. Tracks  

 
2.15.1. This licensing authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more than one 

premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the track.  As per 
the Gambling Commission's Guidance, this licensing authority will especially consider 
the impact upon the third licensing objective (i.e. the protection of children and 
vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling) and the need to 
ensure that entrances to each type of premises are distinct and that children are 
excluded from gambling areas where they are not permitted to enter. 

 
2.15.2. This authority will therefore expect the premises licence applicant to demonstrate 

suitable measures to ensure that children do not have access to adult only gaming 
facilities and that arrangements will be put in place to ensure as far as is possible that 
vulnerable adults do access adult only gaming facilities.  It is noted that children and 

72



 

 23 

young persons will be permitted to enter track areas where facilities for betting are 
provided on days when dog-racing and/or horse racing takes place, but that they are 
still prevented from entering areas where gaming machines (other than category D 
machines) are provided. 

 
2.15.3. This licensing authority may consider measures to meet the licensing objectives such 

as: 

 proof of age schemes 

 CCTV 

 supervision of entrances / machine areas 

 physical separation of areas 

 location of entry 

 notices/signage 

 specific opening hours 

 self-exclusion schemes 

 provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare 

 
2.15.4. This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 

measures. 
 
2.15.5. Gaming machines - Where the applicant holds a pool betting operating licence and is 

going to use the entitlement to four gaming machines, machines (other than category D 
machines) should be located in areas from which children are excluded.  

 
2.16. Applications and plans  

 
2.16.1. The Gambling Act (s151) requires applicants to submit plans of the premises with their 

application, in order to ensure that the licensing authority has the necessary information 
to make an informed judgement about whether the premises are fit for gambling. The 
plan will also be used for the licensing authority to plan future premises inspection 
activity. (See Guidance to Licensing Authorities, para 20.43). 

 
2.16.2. Plans for tracks do not need to be in a particular scale, but should be drawn to scale 

and should be sufficiently detailed to include the information required by regulations. 
(See Guidance to Licensing Authorities, para 20.44). 

 
2.16.3. It is important to note that a plan has a number of requirements and these requirements 

depend on the type of licence or permit application. Please visit our website and 
download the RBWM Guidance Notes relating to arrangements for Premises under the 
Act to ascertain the plan requirements for the type of application being applied for.  

 
2.17. Travelling Fairs 

 
2.17.1. This licensing authority is responsible for deciding whether, where category D machines 

and/or equal chance prize gaming without a permit is to be made available for use at 
travelling fairs, the statutory requirement that the facilities for gambling amount to no 
more than an ancillary amusement at the fair is met. 

 

73



 

 24 

2.17.2. The licensing authority will also consider whether the applicant falls within the statutory 
definition of a travelling fair. 

 
2.17.3. It is noted that the 27 days statutory maximum for the land being used as a fair applies 

on a per calendar year basis and not in any 12-month period, and that it applies to the 
piece of land on which the fairs are held, regardless of whether it is the same or 
different travelling fairs occupying the land.  This licensing authority will work with its 
neighbouring authorities to ensure that land which crosses our boundaries is monitored 
so that the statutory limits are not exceeded. (See Guidance to Licensing Authorities, 
para. 30.1-30.6). 

 
2.18. Provisional Statements 
 
2.18.1. Developers may wish to apply to this authority for provisional statements before 

entering into a contract to buy or lease property or land to judge whether a development 
is worth taking forward in light of the need to obtain a premises licence. There is no 
need for the applicant to hold an operating licence in order to apply for a provisional 
statement.  

 
2.18.2. S204 of the Gambling Act provides for a person to make an application to the licensing 

authority for a provisional statement in respect of premises that he or she: 

 expects to be constructed 

 expects to be altered or 

 expects to be acquired a right to occupy 
 
2.18.3. The process for considering an application for a provisional statement is the same as 

that for a premises licence application other than for tracks. The applicant is obliged to 
give notice of the application in the same way as applying for a premises licence. 
Responsible authorities and interested parties may make representations and there are 
rights of appeal.  

 
2.18.4. In contrast to the premises licence application, the applicant does not have to hold or 

have applied for an operating licence from the Gambling Commission (except in the 
case of a track) and they do not have to have a right to occupy the premises in respect 
of which their provisional application is made.  

 
2.18.5. The holder of a provisional statement may then apply for a premises licence once the 

premises are constructed, altered or acquired. The licensing authority will be 
constrained in the matters it can consider when determining the premises licence 
application, and in terms of representations about premises licence applications that 
follow the grant of a provisional statement, no further representations from relevant 
authorities or interested parties can be taken into account unless: 

 they concern matters which could not have been addressed at the provisional 
statement stage, or 

 they reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances.   
 
2.18.6. In addition, the authority may refuse the premises licence (or grant it on terms different 

to those attached to the provisional statement) only by reference to matters: 

 which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional statement stage;  

74



 

 25 

 which in the authority’s opinion reflect a change in the operator’s circumstances; or 

 where the premises has not been constructed in accordance with the plan 
submitted with the application. This must be a substantial change to the plan and 
this licensing authority notes that it can discuss any concerns it has with the 
applicant before making a decision. 

 
2.19. Reviews 

 
2.19.1. Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by interested parties or 

responsible authorities; however, it is for the licensing authority to decide whether the 
review is to be carried out.  This will be on the basis of whether the request for the 
review is relevant to the matters listed below: 

 in accordance with any relevant Code of Practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission 

 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 

 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and 

 in accordance with the authority’s statement of principles. 
 
2.19.2. The request for the review will also be subject to the consideration by the authority as to 

whether the request is frivolous, vexatious, or whether it will certainly not cause this 
authority to wish to alter/revoke/suspend the licence, or whether it is substantially the 
same as previous representations or requests for review. 

 
2.19.3. The licensing authority can also initiate a review of a particular premises licence, or a 

particular class of premises licence on the basis of any reason which it thinks is 
appropriate. 

 
2.19.4. Once a valid application for a review has been received by the licensing authority, 

representations can be made by responsible authorities and interested parties during a 
28 day period. This period begins 7 days after the application was received by the 
licensing authority, who will publish notice of the application within 7 days of receipt.  

 
2.19.5. The licensing authority must carry out the review as soon as possible after the 28 day 

period for making representations has passed.  
 
2.19.6. The purpose of the review will be to determine whether the licensing authority should 

take any action in relation to the licence. If action is justified, the options open to the 
licensing authority are:-  
(a) add, remove or amend a licence condition imposed by the licensing authority; 
(b) exclude a default condition imposed by the Secretary of State  (e.g. opening 

hours) or remove or amend such an exclusion; 
(c) suspend the premises licence for a period not exceeding three months; and 
(d) revoke the premises licence. 

 
2.19.7. In determining what action, if any, should be taken following a review, the licensing 

authority must have regard to the principles set out in Section 153 of the Act, as well as 
any relevant representations. 

 
2.19.8. In particular, the licensing authority may also initiate a review of a premises licence on 

75



 

 26 

the grounds that a premises licence holder has not provided facilities for gambling at the 
premises. This is to prevent people from applying for licences in a speculative manner 
without intending to use them. 

 
2.19.9. Once the review has been completed, the licensing authority must, as soon as possible, 

notify its decision to: 

 the licence holder 

 the applicant for review (if any) 

 the Commission 

 any person who made representations 

 the chief officer of police or chief constable; and 

 Her Majesty’s Commissioners for Revenue and Customs 
 

76



 

 27 

3. Permits / Temporary & Occasional Use Notice 
 
3.1. Unlicenced Family Entertainment Centre (uFEC) gaming machine permits 

(Statement of Principles on Permits - Schedule 10 paragraph 7) 
 
3.1.1. Where a premises does not hold a premises licence but wishes to provide gaming 

machines, it may apply to the licensing authority for this permit.  It should be noted that 
the applicant must show that the premises will be wholly or mainly used for making 
gaming machines available for use (Section 238). 

 
3.1.2. The Gambling Act 2005 states that a licensing authority may prepare a statement of 

principles that they propose to consider in determining the suitability of an applicant for 
a permit and in preparing this statement, and/or considering applications, it need not 
(but may) have regard to the licensing objectives and shall have regard to any relevant 
guidance issued by the Commission under Section 24.  The Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities also states: “In its statement of policy, a licensing 
authority may include a statement of principles that it proposes to apply when exercising 
its functions in considering applications for permits. In particular it may want to set out 
the matters that it will take into account in determining the suitability of the applicant. 
Given that the premises is likely to appeal particularly to children and young persons, 
licensing authorities may wish to give weight to matters relating to protection of children 
from being harmed or exploited by gambling and to ensure that staff supervision 
adequately reflects the level of risk to this group. Licensing authorities are also 
encouraged to also specify in their statement of policy that a plan for the uFEC must be 
submitted." (See Guidance to Licensing Authorities, para. 24.8) 

 
3.1.3. Guidance also states: “An application for a permit may be granted only if the licensing 

authority is satisfied that the premises will be used as an unlicensed FEC, and if the 
chief officer of police has been consulted on the application.  

 
3.1.4. Licensing authorities might wish to consider asking applicants to demonstrate: 

 a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is 
permissible in unlicensed FECs 

 that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in Schedule 7 
of the Act); and 

 that employees are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes and 
prizes. (See Guidance to Licensing Authorities, para. 24.9)) 

 
3.1.5. It should be noted that a licensing authority cannot attach conditions to this type of 

permit. 
 

Statement of Principles  
3.1.6. This licensing authority will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and 

procedures in place to protect children and vulnerable adults from harm.  Harm in this 
context is not limited to harm from gambling but includes wider child protection 
considerations.  The efficiency of such policies and procedures will each be considered 
on their merits, however, they may include appropriate measures/training for staff as 
regards suspected truant school children on the premises, measures/training covering 
how staff would deal with unsupervised very young children and vulnerable adults being 

77



 

 28 

on the premises, or children causing perceived problems on/around the premises.  This 
licensing authority will also expect, as per Gambling Commission Guidance, that 
applicants demonstrate a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the 
gambling that is permissible in unlicensed FECs; that the applicant has no relevant 
convictions (those that are set out in Schedule 7 of the Act); a scaled plan of the 
premises (See Guidance notes relating to arrangements for Premises under the Act – 
plan requirement for uFECs), original copy of Public Liability Insurance documentation 
and that staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes and 
prizes. 

 
3.2. (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits - (Schedule 13 paragraph 

4(1)) 
Automatic entitlement: 2 machines 

 
3.2.1. There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for consumption on the 

premises to automatically have 2 gaming machines, of categories C and/or D.  The 
premises merely need to notify the licensing authority.   

 
3.2.2. The licensing authority can remove the automatic authorisation in respect of any 

particular premises if: 

 provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit of the 
licensing objectives; 

 gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of Section 282 
of the Gambling Act (i.e. that written notice has been provided to the licensing 
authority, that a fee has been provided and that any relevant code of practice 
issued by the Gambling Commission about the location and operation of the 
machine has been complied with);  

 the premises are mainly used for gaming; or 

 an offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the premises. 
 
3.3. Permit: 3 or more machines 
 
3.3.1. If a premises wishes to have more than 2 machines, then it needs to apply for a permit 

and the licensing authority must consider that application based upon the licensing 
objectives, any guidance issued by the Gambling Commission issued under Section 25 
of the Gambling Act 2005, and “such matters as they think relevant.”    

 
3.3.2. This licensing authority considers that “such matters” will be decided on a case by case 

basis but generally there will be regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable 
persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant to 
satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year 
olds do not have access to the adult only gaming machines.  Measures which will 
satisfy the authority that there will be no access may include Staff training and 
supervision of the machines. Notices and signage may also be helpful.   

 
3.3.3. As regards the protection of vulnerable adults, applicants may wish to consider 

providing the telephone number of GamCare on the machines. 
 
3.3.4. It is recognised that some alcohol licensed premises may apply for a premises licence 

78



 

 29 

for their non-alcohol licensed areas.  Any such application would most likely need to be 
applied for, and dealt with as an Adult Gaming Centre premises licence. 

 
3.3.5. It should be noted that the licensing authority can decide to grant the application with a 

smaller number of machines and/or a different category of machines than that applied 
for.  Conditions (other than these) cannot be attached. 

 
3.3.6. It should also be noted that the holder of a permit must comply with any Code of 

Practice issued by the Gambling Commission about the location and operation of the 
machine. 

 
3.4. Prize Gaming Permits  

 
3.4.1. The Gambling Act 2005 states that a licensing authority may “prepare a statement of 

principles that they propose to apply in exercising their functions under this Schedule” 
which “may, in particular, specify matters that the licensing authority proposes to 
consider in determining the suitability of the applicant for a permit”.   

 
3.4.2. This licensing authority has prepared a Statement of Principles which is that the 

applicant should set out the types of gaming that he or she is intending to offer and that 
the applicant should be able to demonstrate:  

 that they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out in Regulations;  

 that the gaming offered is within the law 

 Clear policies that outline the steps to be taken to protect children from harm. 
 
3.4.3. In making its decision on an application for this permit the licensing authority does not 

need to (but may) have regard to the licensing objectives but must have regard to any 
Gambling Commission guidance.  (Gambling Act 2005, Schedule 14 paragraph 8(3)). 

 
3.4.4. It should be noted that there are conditions in the Gambling Act 2005 by which the 

permit holder must comply, but that the licensing authority cannot attach conditions.  
The conditions in the Act are: 

 the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be complied with; 

 all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the premises on which 
the gaming is taking place and on one day; the game must be played and 
completed on the day the chances are allocated; and the result of the game must 
be made public in the premises on the day that it is played;  

 the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set out in 
regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed value (if non-monetary prize); and 

 participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any other 
gambling.  

 
3.5. Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits 

 
3.5.1. Members Clubs (but not Commercial Clubs) may apply for a Club Gaming Permit or a 

Clubs Gaming machines permit.  The Club Gaming Permit will enable the premises to 
provide gaming machines (3 machines of categories B, C or D), equal chance gaming 
and games of chance as set-out in forthcoming regulations.  A Club Gaming machine 
permit will enable the premises to provide gaming machines (3 machines of categories 

79



 

 30 

B, C or D). 
 
3.5.2. Gambling Commission Guidance states: "Members clubs must have at least 25 

members and be established and conducted “wholly or mainly” for purposes other than 
gaming, unless the gaming is permitted by separate regulations. The Secretary of State 
has made regulations and these cover bridge and whist clubs, which replicates the 
position under the Gambling Act 1968. A members’ club must be permanent in nature, 
not established to make commercial profit, and controlled by its members equally.  
Examples include working men’s clubs, branches of Royal British Legion and clubs with 
political affiliations." 

  
3.5.3. The Commission Guidance also notes that "licensing authorities may only refuse an 

application on the grounds that: 
(a) the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or commercial club or 

miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not entitled to receive the type of permit 
for which it has applied 

(b) the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or young 
persons 

(c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by the 
applicant while providing gaming facilities; 

(d) a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten years; or 
(e) an objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police. 

 
3.5.4. There is also a ‘fast-track’ procedure available under the Act for premises which hold a 

Club Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003 (Schedule 12 paragraph 10).  
As the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities states: "Under the 
fast-track procedure there is no opportunity for objections to be made by the 
Commission or the police, and the ground upon which an authority can refuse a permit 
are reduced." and "The grounds on which an application under the process may be 
refused are: 
(a) the club is established primarily for gaming, other than gaming prescribed by 

regulation under s.266 of the Act; 
(b) in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides facilities for other 

gaming; or 
(c) a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the applicant in the last ten 

years has been cancelled." 
 
3.5.5. There are statutory conditions on club gaming permits that no child uses a category B 

or C machine on the premises and that the holder complies with any relevant provision 
of a code of practice about the location and operation of gaming machines. 

 
3.6. Temporary Use Notices 

 
3.6.1. Temporary Use Notices allow the use of premises for gambling where there is no 

premises licence but where a gambling operator wishes to use the premises temporarily 
for providing facilities for gambling. Premises that might be suitable for a Temporary 
Use Notice, according the Gambling Commission, would include hotels, conference 
centres and sporting venues. 

 

80



 

 31 

3.6.2. The licensing authority can only grant a Temporary Use Notice to a person or company 
holding a relevant operating licence, i.e. a non-remote casino operating licence.  

 
3.6.3. The Secretary of State has the power to determine what form of gambling can be 

authorised by Temporary Use Notices, and at the time of writing this Statement the 
relevant regulations (SI no 3157: The Gambling Act 2005 (Temporary Use Notices) 
Regulations 2007) state that Temporary Use Notices can only be used to permit the 
provision of facilities or equal chance gaming, where the gaming is intended to produce 
a single winner, which in practice means poker tournaments. 

 
3.6.4. There are a number of statutory limits as regards Temporary Use Notices.  The 

meaning of "premises" in Part 8 of the Act is discussed in Part 7 of the Gambling 
Commission Guidance to Licensing Authorities.  As with "premises", the definition of "a 
set of premises" will be a question of fact in the particular circumstances of each notice 
that is given.  In the Act "premises" is defined as including "any place".  

 
3.6.5. In considering whether a place falls within the definition of "a set of premises", the 

licensing authority needs to look at, amongst other things, the ownership/occupation 
and control of the premises. 

 
3.6.6. This licensing authority expects to object to notices where it appears that their effect 

would be to permit regular gambling in a place that could be described as one set of 
premises, as recommended in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities.  

 
3.7. Occasional Use Notices 

 
3.7.1. The licensing authority has very little discretion as regards these notices aside from 

ensuring that the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not exceeded.  This 
licensing authority will though consider the definition of a ‘track’ and whether the 
applicant is permitted to avail him/herself of the notice.   

 

81



 

32 

4. Further Information  
 
ANNEX A - TABLE OF DELEGATIONS OF LICENSING FUNCTIONS 

Matter to be dealt with Full Council Sub-Committee 
 

Licensing Officers 
 

Three year licensing policy 
All cases   

 

Policy not to permit casinos 
All cases   

 

Fee setting – when appropriate 
 If delegated by Full 

Council 
 
 

Application for premises licences 

 
Where representations 
have been received and 
not withdrawn 

Where no representations 
received/representations have been 
withdrawn 
 

Application for a variation to a licence 

 
Where representations 
have been received and 
not withdrawn 

Where no representations 
received/representations have been 
withdrawn 
 

Application for a transfer of a licence 

 
Where representations 
have been received from 
the Commission 

 
Where no representations received 
from the Commission 
 

Application for a provisional statement 

 
Where representations 
have been received and 
not withdrawn 

 
Where no representations 
received/representations have been 
withdrawn 
 

Review of a premises’ licence 
 

All cases 
 
 

Application for club gaming / club 
machine permits 

 
Where representations 
have been received and 
not withdrawn 

 
Where no representations 
received/representations have been 
withdrawn 
 

Cancellation of a club gaming/club 
machine permits 
 

 
All cases  

Applications for other permits 
 

 
All cases 

 

Cancellation of licensed premises 
gaming machine permits 
 

 
 All cases 

Consideration of temporary use notice 
 

 
 All cases 

Decision to give a counter notice to a 
temporary use notice 
 

 
All cases  

Consideration of an Occasional Use 
Notice 

 
 All cases 

Prosecution of offences under Gambling 
Act 2005 

 
 

Community Protection & Enforcement 
Services Lead  in conjunction with the 
Head of Legal Services 

The appointment of Authorised Persons 
in accordance with Section 304 
Gambling Act 2005 

 
 

Community Protection & Enforcement 
Services Lead 
 

Applications for Licensed Premises 
Gaming Machine Permits 

 
Over 4 machines Up to 4 machines 

 
 

82



 

33 

Document 
Name 

Gambling Act 2005 - Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022 

Document 
Author 

Greg Nelson 

Document 
owner 

Greg Nelson 

File location Y:\Public Protection\Licensing\Gambling Act 

Destruction date N/A 

How this 
document was 
created 

Version 1 Initial draft document 18/12/2018 

Version 2 Formatting updates 10/01/2019 

Version 3 Final Version for Full Council 11/01/2019 

Circulation 
restrictions 

None 

Review date 01/072021 

 

83

file:///C:/Users/local_qkb328/INetCache/Gambling%20Act


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interest
	4 Petition for Debate - Braywick Crossing
	5 Polling District and Polling Places Review 2018
	6 Appointment of Managing Director and Head of Paid Service
	7 Review and Republishing of RBWM's Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles

